


COMPLIANCE		STATEMENTS	 	

	 	 	
DISCLAIMER	 EXPLORATION	TARGETS	 COMPETENT	PERSON	
	 	 	
This	Annual	Report	contains	
forward	looking	statements	that	
are	subject	to	risk	factors	
associated	with	the	exploration	
and	mining	industry.	
	
It	is	believed	that	the	expectations	
reflected	in	these	statements	are	
reasonable,	but	they	may	be	
affected	by	a	variety	of	variables	
which	could	cause	actual	results	or	
trends	to	differ	materially.	
	
Where	results	from	previous	
announcements	are	quoted,	
Marmota	confirms	that	it	is	not	
aware	of	any	new	information	or	
data	that	materially	affects	the	
information	included	in	the	
relevant	market	announcement	
and,	in	the	case	of	estimates	of	
Mineral	Resources,	that	all	material	
assumptions	and	technical	
parameters	underpinning	the	
estimates	in	the	relevant	market	
announcement	continue	to	apply	
and	have	not	materially	changed.	
	
	
	

Exploration	Targets	are	reported	
according	to	Clause	18	of	the	JORC	
Code.	This	means	that	the	
potential	quantity	and	grade	is	
conceptual	in	the	nature	and	that	
considerable	further	exploration	is	
necessary	before	any	Identified	
Mineral	Resource	can	be	reported.	
It	is	uncertain	if	further	exploration	
will	lead	to	a	larger,	smaller	or	any	
Mineral	Resource.	
	

The	information	in	the	Annual	
Report	that	relates	to	Exploration	
Results	and	Mineral	Resources	is	
based	on	information	compiled	by	
Dr	Kevin	Wills	who	is	a	Fellow	of	
the	Australasian	Institute	of	Mining	
and	Metallurgy.	He	has	sufficient	
experience	which	is	relevant	to	the	
styles	of	mineralisation	and	types	
of	deposits	under	consideration	
and	to	the	activities	being	
undertaken	to	qualify	as	a	
Competent	Person	as	defined	in	
the	2012	Edition	of	the	“	
Australasian	Code	of	Reporting	of	
Exploration	Results,	Mineral	
Resources	and	Ore	Reserves.”	
Dr	Wills	consents	to	the	inclusion	
in	the	report	of	the	matters	based	
on	his	information	in	the	form	and	
context	in	which	it	appears.	
	
	
	

	

ANNUAL	GENERAL	MEETING	
Shareholders	are	invited	to	attend	the	Marmota	2019	AGM:	
	
Venue:	 Charles	Sturt	Meeting	Room	
	 Grant	Thornton	House		

Level	3	
	 170	Frome	Street	
	 Adelaide,				South	Australia		

	
Time:	 Wednesday			27	November	2019					at	3	pm	(ACDT)	
	 	
	
Full	details	are	contained	in	the	Notice	of	Meeting	mailed	to	shareholders.	
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CHAIRMAN’S	
REPORT	

Dear	Fellow	Shareholder	

It	is	with	considerable	pleasure	that	we	present	the	Marmota	Ltd	2019	Annual	Report.	
We	are	delighted	with	the	progress	being	made	at	our	Aurora	Tank	gold	discovery.		

• Doing	more,	Spending	Less
During	the	financial	year,	Marmota	carried	out	multiple	drill	programs,	including
2	 substantial	 extensional	 drilling	 programs	 at	 Aurora	 Tank,	 1	 reconnaissance
program	at	Aurora	Tank,	and	1	regional	reconnaissance	program	–	remarkable
given	both	 the	budget	within	which	we	operate	and	 the	 size	of	 the	 company.
But	more	importantly,	that	drilling	is	yielding	excellent	results	…

• Aurora	Tank	Gold	discovery
Drilling	 carried	 out	 during	 the	 2019	 financial	 year	 yielded	 outstanding	 gold
intersections.	It	also	yielded	our	best	ever	intersections		–		not	once,	but	twice	–
in	two	successive	programs,	from	two	different	zones.

Results	in	January	2019,	then	checked	and	re-checked	for	QA/QC	verification	in
May	2019,	returned	an	average	grade	of	105g/t	over	1m	[	ASX:MEU	7	May	2019	].
That	intercept	of	27g/t	over	5m	was	featured	in	the	‘Top	Drill	Intersections	per
State	–	Australia	–	Q1	2019’	published	by	the	RSC	Mineral	Intelligence	Report
(May	2019).	More	recently,	last	month,	Marmota	reported	our	new	highest	ever
gold	intersection	of	120	g/t	over	1m	at	Aurora	Tank	from	the	June	2019	drilling
[	ASX:MEU	19	Sept	2019	],	over	a	zone	120m	to	the	south.

Aurora	 Tank	 keeps	 on	 expanding	 and	 growing	 in	 new	 directions.	 The	 most
recent	 drilling	 program	 (June	 2019)	 has	 opened	 up	 a	 new	NW	 flank,	 and	 our
recon	program	at	Aurora	Tank	made	a	new	discovery	hole	(Two	Fingers)	located
450m	outside	of	the	known	mineralised	zone,	based	on	tree	leaf	sampling.

• MEU	Biogeochem	Program	receives	international	recognition
Marmota’s	 innovative	R&D	biogeochem	program	–	sampling	tree	 leaves	at	the
surface	as	an	expression	of	what	may	 lie	40m	or	50m	below	the	surface	–	has
led	Marmota	to	make	new	gold	discoveries	that	would	not	otherwise	have	been
made.	Our	success	has	been	featured	on	the	cover	of	international	journals	such
as	 The	 Economist	 and	 New	 Scientist,	 and	 in	 full	 page	 articles	 in	 Australian
newspapers,	 on	 radio	 and	 TV.	 It	 is	 a	 pleasure	 to	 see	 the	 process	 of	 new
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discovery	unfold	as	a	combination	of	intellectual	innovation	and	persistent	grit,	
for	the	benefit	of	our	shareholders.	The	international	recognition	is	a	rewarding	
testament	 to	 the	 technical	 excellence	 and	 vision	 of	 Marmota’s	 exploration	
team.		

• Heap	leach	pathway	to	production
During	 the	 financial	 year,	 Phase	 2	 (bottle	 roll	 and	 intermittent	 bottle	 roll)	 and
Phase	 3	 (column	 leach)	 metallurgical	 studies	 were	 carried	 out	 –	 all	 yielding
excellent	gold	recoveries.	Most	importantly,	the	excellent	Phase	3	column	leach
tests	just	received	[ASX:MEU	10	Oct	2019	]	suggest	a	low-cost	low-capex	heap	leach
pathway	to	production,	without	the	expense	or	complications	of	a	mill.	This	is	a
very	important	outcome	for	the	Company	and	its	shareholders.

• Board	changes	and	new	Board	position:	Executive	Director	–	Production
At	the	end	of	August	2019,	non-executive	director	Peter	Thompson	departed	to
take	 on	 the	 role	 of	 CEO	 of	 an	 overseas	 gold	 producer.	 On	 behalf	 of	 all
shareholders,	I	would	like	to	extend	our	warm	thanks	and	appreciation	to	Peter
for	 his	 constant	 professionalism,	 technical	 expertise,	 clarity	 of	 vision	 and
support.	We	wish	Peter	the	very	best	in	his	new	role	overseas.

In	 September	 2019,	Marmota	 appointed	 Shane	 Barker	 to	 the	 new	position	 of
Executive	Director:	Production	and	we	are	very	pleased	to	welcome	Shane	onto
the	Board.	Shane	was	the	principal	metallurgist	and	Manager	of	the	Processing
team	operating	the	highly	successful	White	Dam	gold	heap	leach	mine	in	South
Australia.

All	the	ingredients	at	Aurora	Tank	are	coming	together:	
High-grade	mineralisation,	close	to	surface,	excellent	gold	recoveries	from	metallurgical	
testwork,	 potential	 low-cost	 low-capex	 open-pittable	 production	 methods,	 and	 the	
latest	tests	revealing	a	low-cost	heap	leach	pathway.	The	very	favourable	gold	price	is	
the	cherry	on	the	cake	for	our	shareholders.	

Your	 Board	 and	 the	 exploration	 team	 are	 working	 extremely	 hard	 to	 realise	 the	
Company’s	potential	and	shareholder	value.	We	are	very	grateful	for	the	support	of	all	
our	shareholders.	I	am	very	confident	that	the	year	ahead	will	be	another	exciting	one	
for	our	shareholders.		

On	behalf	 of	 the	Board,	we	warmly	 invite	 shareholders	 to	 attend	 the	AGM	—	we	do	
hope	you	can	attend	and	we	look	forward	to	meeting	with	you.			

Dr	Colin	Rose	
Chairman	
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REVIEW	OF	
OPERATIONS	

GOLD	 Gawler	Craton	 – NW	of	Tarcoola,	SA
URANIUM		 Junction	Dam	 – NW	of	Broken	Hill	(in	SA)
COPPER	 	 Melton	 	 – Yorke	Peninsula,	SA

Figure	1:			Map	showing	Marmota	tenements	
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TENEMENT	STATUS	
(as	at	30	September	2019)	

SOUTH AUSTRALIA 
	  Project	name	 Tenement	 Number	 Area	

(km2)	
Details	 Marmota’s	

interest	%	
Status	

Junction	Dam	 Junction	Dam	 EL	5682	 341	

JV	with	Teck	Australia,	
Variscan	Mines	&	

Eaglehawk	Geological	
Consulting	

100%	of	the	
uranium	

mineral	rights	 Granted	

Melton	
North	Melton	 EL	6292	 137	 JV	with	Monax	Mining	 75%	of	all	

minerals	
Granted	

West	Melton	 EL	5832	 88	 100%	 Granted	

Gawler	Craton	
West	Block	

Indooroopilly	 EL	5799	 584	 100%	 Granted	

Lake	Anthony	 EL	6082	 959	 100%	 Granted	

Mt	Christie	 EL	6123	 564	 100%	 Granted	

Cudyea	 EL	6384	 145	 100%	 Granted	

Gawler	Craton	
NE	Block	

Aurora	Tank	 EL	5589	 48	 100%	 Granted	

Woorong	Downs	 EL	6083	 458	 100%	 Granted	

Comet	 EL	6084	 268	 100%	 Granted	

Commonwealth	Hill	 EL	6040	 196	 100%	 Granted	

Gawler	Craton	
SE	Block	

Ambrosia	 EL	5830	 854	 100%	 Granted	

Muckanippie	 EL	6166	 181	 100%	 Granted	

Mulgathing	 EL	5759	 652	 100%	 Granted	

Pundinya	 EL	5684	 435	 100%	 Granted	

Bradman	 EL	5527	 92	 100%	 Granted	

Carnding	 EL	5861	 53	 100%	 Granted	

Irria	 EL	5930	 406	 100%	 Granted	

Pegler	 EL	5914	 77	 100%	 Granted	

Malbooma	 EL	6371	 178	 100%	 Granted	
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GOLD		 Gawler	Craton	

Key	Points	
• Marmota	is	searching	for	the	next	Challenger-style	system
• The	Challenger	mine	produced	over	1.2	million	ounces	of	gold

(i.e.	more	than	A$2.5	billion	of	gold	at	current	prices)
• Originally	discovered	using	simple	calcrete	sampling
• Dr	Kevin	Wills,	the	geologist	who	designed	the	programs	that	discovered	Challenger,

is	now	heading	up	Marmota’s	exploration	team
• Marmota	tenements	now	cover	around	6,000	km2	of	highly	prospective	area	around

Challenger
• Exploration	is	yielding	excellent	results:		MEU	Gold	Discovery	at	Aurora	Tank

Figure	2:			Marmota’s	Gawler	Craton	Gold	Project,	around	the	Challenger	Gold	mine.	
Aurora	Tank	Gold	discovery	highlighted	in	RED	
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GOLD	DISCOVERY	
at	AURORA	TANK									100%	owned																																																						
Aurora	 Tank	 is	 located	 50km	 NE	 of	 the	 Challenger	 gold	 mine	 [	 see	 Fig.	 2	 ].	 Exploration	 yielded	
outstanding	1m	 intersections	during	 the	year,	 including	our	best	 results	ever,	 first	with	105	g/t	
gold	in	Hole	18AT104	[ASX:MEU	17	Jan	&	7	May	2019	]	on	the	new	NW	flank,	and	then	120	g/t	gold	just	
21m	from	surface	[	Hole	19AT049	]	located	120m	to	the	south	[ASX:MEU	19	Sept	2019	].	
	
Highlights	include:	
! 2m	at			 67	g/t	 gold		 from	32m		 –		Hole	17AT021	 (	incl			 1m	@		93	g/t		 from	32m	)	
! 3m	at			 41	g/t	 gold		 from	21m		 –		Hole	19AT049	 (	incl			 1m	@120	g/t		 from	21m	)	
! 5m	at			 27	g/t	 gold		 from	38m		 –		Hole	18AT104	 (	incl			 1m	@105	g/t		 from	38m	)	
! 3m	at			 24	g/t	 gold		 from	34m		 –		Hole	18AT065	 (	incl			 1m	@		51	g/t		 from	35m	)	
! 6m	at			 11	g/t	 gold		 from	40m		 –		Hole	18AT074	 (	incl			 1m	@		58	g/t		 from	44m	)	
! 5m	at			 13	g/t		 gold		 from	41m		 –		Hole	17AT022	 (	incl			 1m	@		44	g/t		 from	45m	)	
! 4m	at			 14	g/t		 gold		 from	32m		 –		Hole	17AT011	 (	incl			 1m	@		42	g/t		 from	33m	)	
! 4m	at		 10	g/t					 gold		 from	25m		 –		Hole	16AT043	 (	incl			 1m	@		39	g/t		 from	27m	)	
! 2m	at		 20	g/t					 gold		 from	46m		 –		Hole	19AT065	 (	incl			 1m	@		39	g/t		 from	47m	)	
! 3m	at				 10	g/t	 gold		 from	28m		 –		Hole	18AT070	 (	incl			 1m	@		24	g/t		 from	29m	)	
! 3m	at			 12	g/t		 gold		 from	29m		 –		Hole	17AT045	 (	incl			 1m	@		20	g/t		 from	30m	)	
! 3m	at					11	g/t	 gold		 from	22m		 –		Hole	16AT019	 (	incl			 1m	@		23	g/t		 from	22m	)	
! 3m	at					10	g/t	 gold		 from	58m		 –		Hole	18AT120	 (	incl			 1m	@		26	g/t		 from	59m	)	
! 3m	at		 10	g/t					 gold		 from	22m		 –		Hole	17AT035	 (	incl			 1m	@		19	g/t		 from	23m	)	
! 10m	at								6	g/t		 gold		 from	17m		 –		Hole	17AT042	 (	incl			 1m	@		42	g/t		 from	18m	)	
! 4m	at		 		9	g/t	 gold		 from	28m		 –		Hole	17AT026	 (	incl			 1m	@		26	g/t		 from	31m	)	
! 2m	at		 13	g/t					 gold		 from	37m		 –		Hole	19AT063	 (	incl			 1m	@		22	g/t		 from	37m	)	
! 1m	at			 47	g/t		 gold		 from	35m		 –		Hole	19AT051	 	 	 	
! 1m	at			 30	g/t		 gold		 from	17m		 –		Hole	17AT029	 	 	 	
! 1m	at		 23	g/t	 gold		 from	35m		 –		Hole	16AT061	 	
! 1m	at		 20	g/t					 gold		 from	17m		 –		Hole	17AT024	 	 	 	
! 1m	at		 22	g/t					 gold		 from	20m		 –		Hole	17AT044	 	 	 	

	
Marmota:								Aurora	Tank	(Goshawk)	Drill	Program	Summary	
	

Date	 Number	of	Drill	Holes	 		Metres	

September	2016:			 		98	angled	aircore		 		4,385	m					
December		2016:	 		31	angled	RC		 		2,604	m	
June	–	July	2017:	 		48	angled	AC1		 		2,299	m				(at	Goshawk)	
November	2017:	 				6	angled	diamond	core2		 					186	m	
April	–	May	2018:	 			41	angled	RC		 		3,538	m				(at	Goshawk)	
September	2018:	 			24	angled	RC3	 		2,795	m				(at	Goshawk)	
June	2019:	 			64	angled	AC4	 		3,300	m				(at	Goshawk)	
Total	at	Goshawk	 312	holes	 19,107	m	

																																																													
1				Infilled	drillhole	coverage	to	(approx)	50m	depth,	to	(approx)	20	x	20m	over	a	strike	length	of	500m	
2		 To	provide	high-quality	geological	information,	including	orientation,	to	assist	resource	modelling,	and	provide	samples	

for	the	subsequent	petrology	and	metallurgical	analysis	
3		 In	addition,	there	was	also	a	reconnaissance	program	of	7	vertical	RC	holes	(392m)	outside	the	Goshawk	mineralised	zone.	
4		 In	addition,	there	was	also	a	reconnaissance	program	of	72	AC	holes	(3,700m)	outside	the	Goshawk	mineralised	zone.	
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Figure	4:					Aurora	Tank			–			Best	downhole	gold	results					+				new	NW	flank		–	–	–	–				

	

	

Figure	5:					Schematic	long-section	through	new	NW	flank	 11



Aurora	Tank	featured	in:	

‘	Top	Drill	Intersections	per	State	–	Australia	–	Q1	2019	’	

	

In	May	2019,	Marmota’s	new	outstanding	gold	intersection	at	Aurora	Tank	was	
featured	in	the	‘Top	Drill	Intersections	per	State	–	Australia	–	Q1	2019’	published	
by	the	RSC	Mineral	Intelligence	Report	(May	2019:	p.9	of	the	RSC	Report).	

	

	

	

Figure	6:				 Aurora	Tank	featured	in:				
	 	 Top	Drill	Intersections	per	State	–	Australia			(	RSC	May	2019	)	
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Marmota	Innovation	
Tree	leaves	yield	new	discovery	hole	
Marmota’s	 June	 2019	 drilling	 program	 also	 contained	 a	 reconnaissance	 component	
designed	 to	 see	 if	 new	 gold	 mineralisation	 can	 be	 found	 outside	 the	 known	
mineralisation	area	at	Aurora	Tank.		

Building	on	our	innovative	R&D	program,	Marmota	measured	anomalous	gold	in	tree	
leaves,	and	 then	drill	 tested	a	number	of	biogeochemical	gold-in-tree	 leaf	anomalies	
outside	 the	 known	 mineralisation	 area	 at	 Aurora	 Tank.	 Discovery	 hole	 19ATAC098	
(Two	Fingers)	was	drilled	to	test	a	biogeochemical	(Senna	shrub	leaf)	gold	anomaly	and	
intersected	4m	@	7.2	g/t	 	gold	at	44	m	below	surface	 [	ASX:MEU	31	 July	 	&	 19	 Sept	 2019	]	
over	an	area	with	no	gold-in-calcrete	anomaly.	The	hole	is	located	approximately	450m	
to	the	NE	of	the	known	mineralised	zone	at	Aurora	Tank.			[	see	Fig.8	]		

Marmota’s	discovery	and	method	was	recently	the	basis	of	an	article	in	New	Scientist	
magazine	(17	Aug	2019).			

		

	
	
Figure	7:					Marmota’s	method	and	discovery	featured	on	the	cover	of	New	Scientist			 	
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New	Two	Fingers	Discovery	Hole	
The	new	‘Two	Fingers’	Discovery	Hole	[	Hole	19AT098	]	is	located	450m	to	the	NE	of	
known	mineralisation.	

Detailed	1m	assays	from	the	reconnaissance	hole	returned:	

	 Depth																				Grade							
	 45	to	46m:					 10.0		g/t	gold	
	 46	to	47m:						 9.3		g/t	gold	
	 47	to	48m:							 6.0		g/t	gold	
	 48	to	49m:				 3.5		g/t	gold	
	
…	averaging	4m	@	7.2	g/t	gold		[	see	ASX:MEU	19	Sept	2019	].	

	

	
	

Figure	8:					Two	Fingers	discovery	identified	by	tree	leaves,	located	450m	from	known	mineralisation	

14



Notes	

1. A	picture	of	the	‘Golden’	Senna	shrub	at	Hole	98	whose	leaves	gave	rise	to	drill	testing	of	Hole	98	is	
featured	on	the	rear	cover	of	this	Annual	Report.		
	

2. The	Two	Fingers	Hole	98	intersection	is	accompanied	by	anomalous	pathfinder	elements	for	primary	
mineralisation,	such	as	Ag,	As,	Bi,	Cu	and	Sb.	This	is	typical	of	Archaean	gold	mineralisation	and	
indicates	a	potential	primary	source	of	mineralisation	associated	with	sulphides	that	has	depth	
potential.	
	

3. Follow	up	drilling	to	determine	the	strike	and	dip	of	the	new	zone	will	be	carried	out	in	the	planned	
forthcoming	Phase	2	drilling	program.	

	

	

The	following	diagram	illustrates	the	location	of	each	tree	that	has	been	sampled	by	Marmota	at	
Aurora	Tank,	both	within	the	Goshawk	mineralised	zone	and	surrounding	it,	as	of	30	June	2019.	

	

	
Zone	of	known	Gold	mineralisation	

	 	
Figure	9:			Aurora	Tank		–		Location	of	Biogeochemical	samples				(as	at	30	June	2019)	
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Metallurgy					 Phase	2			and			Phase	3						
Excellent	Gold	Recoveries	

	

Phase	2	Metallurgy	
At	the	start	of	the	financial	year,	Marmota’s	Phase	2	metallurgical	testwork	program	
was	carried	out	at	the	Adelaide	Mineral	Processing	Laboratory	of	Bureau	Veritas.		
The	aim	of	the	testwork	was	to	aid	Marmota	in	selecting	the	best	pathway	to	
production.		For	more	detail:			see	ASX:MEU		20	Aug	2018	.	
	

 

Supergene	gold:				10	–	30m	depth					(left)																						Transitional	gold:			30	to	50m	depth						(right)	

	

Figure	10:						 Images	of	Aurora	Tank		gold								(from	diamond	core)	
	 Phase	2	Metallurgy	Testwork:		Scanning	Electron	Microscope		

	

					Gravity	Concentration	
•		 For	the	supergene	sample,	overall	recovery	was	95.9%	of	which	1.5%	was	attributable	to		

gravity	recoverable	gold	and	94.4%	from	cyanide	leaching	of	the	gold	tailings.		
	

•		 For	the	transitional	sample,	overall	recovery	was	92.7%,	of	which	16%	was	attributable	to	
gravity	recoverable	gold	and	76.7%	from	cyanide	leaching	of	gravity	tailings.		

	 As	the	total	gold	recoveries	with	just	cyanide	leaching	are	high,	and	as	gravity	recoveries	
were	not	particularly	high,	the	results	suggest	that	gravity	gold	recovery	may	not	be	
necessary	(which	would	simplify	the	production	process)	and	that	low-cost	low-capex	
heap	leaching	may	be	a	viable	pathway	to	production.	
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Phase	3	Metallurgy						Column	Leach	tests	
Marmota	carried	out	Phase	1	and	2	bottle	roll	metallurgical	tests	to	provide	an	estimate	of	gold	
recoveries	that	may	be	achievable	by	processing	ore	through	a	mill.	The	bottle	roll	tests	for	
Aurora	Tank	ore	consistently	returned	excellent	gold	recovery	rates	over	90%.	
	
If	favourable	metallurgical	conditions	exist,	it	is	also	sometimes	possible	to	commercially	process	
ore	without	the	expense	and	complications	of	a	mill,	using	instead	a	much	simpler	cheaper	heap	
leaching	process.	The	trade-off	is	that	gold	recoveries	using	a	heap	leach	can	be	much	lower	than	
via	using	a	specialised	mill,	while	the	upside	is	that	the	cost	of	building	and/or	operating	a	mill	
can	be	avoided.		
	
A	column	leach	test	is	used	to	estimate	gold	recoveries	from	a	heap	leach	process.		

	
	
	 First	Column	Leach	Test	yield	excellent	gold	recoveries		
• Marmota	was	very	pleased	to	recently	announce	[	see	ASX:MEU	10	Oct	2019	]	that	the	first	column	

leach	test,	carried	out	by	Bureau	Veritas,	using	diamond	core	ore	sampled	from	Aurora	Tank,	
returned	excellent	gold	recoveries	of	83%	…	which	is	considered	very	high	by	industry	standards	
for	column	leach	metallurgy.	

• Figure	11	summarises	the	leach	performance	over	time.		 	
	
	

Gold recoveries vs Time 
Column Leach Performance 

 

Figure 11:   Column Leach Gold recoveries (with 9kg binder)   vs   time   
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HIGHLIGHTS	
! Initial	column	leach	tests	have	shown	that	Aurora	Tank	gold	is	readily	recoverable	by	

cyanide	leaching	of	ore	
! Gold	recovery	over	80%	is	considered	very	high	by	industry	standards	for	gold	heap	

leach	operations	
! The	amenability	of	gold	recovery	at	Aurora	Tank	by	heap	leaching	methods	is	considered	

likely	to	be	feasible	
! Further	scope:				 a)	Tests	have	not	yet	been	optimised	for	crush	size	

	 	 	 b)	Recoveries	appear	to	be	still	increasing	when	the	test	period	terminated	
	
	

Marmota	Chairman,	Dr	Colin	Rose,	said:	

	“	Marmota	has	been	investigating	the	optimal	pathway	to	production	at	Aurora	Tank.		
The	excellent	column	leach	test	gold	recoveries	suggest	that	Aurora	Tank	is	
amenable	to	low-cost	low-capex	heap	leach	techniques.	A	heap	leach	would	mean	
that	Marmota	would	not	need	to	construct	a	mill,	nor	share	revenue	with	external	
parties	for	toll	treatment	in	a	mill.	This	is	a	highly	desirable	outcome	for	both	the	
Company	and	our	shareholders.	”	

	

	
	

Figure	12:			Detail	of	a	cluster	of	gold	grains	within	a	vein	of	clay	alteration	(which	is	black	in	reflected	light),		
filling	fractures	in	massive	vein	quartz												Diamond	Hole	17ATDD002			@			approx.	46m	
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Figure	13:			Drilling	at	Aurora	Tank	Gold	discovery		

19



GOLD	 	 Gawler	Craton	
Marmota’s	Gawler	Craton	tenements	contain	one	of	the	most	attractive	types	of	exploration	terrain,	
being	a	thin	veneer	of	cover	overlying	a	zone	of	supergene	weathering	which	penetrates	basement.	
The	targets	are	large	secondary	dispersion	haloes	overlying	mineralisation	and	developed	in	strongly	
weathered	 basement	 regolith.	 They	 are	 therefore	 easy	 to	 penetrate	 with	 low-cost	 drilling.	 The	
Western	 Gawler	 Craton	 is	 even	 more	 attractive	 due	 to	 the	 presence	 of	 widespread	 near-surface	
calcrete	which	 facilitates	 the	detection	of	 buried	 secondary	dispersion	haloes	 and	 their	 underlying	
mineralisation.	

	

	

Figure	14:				Model	of	geochemical	dispersion	around	Western	Gawler	Craton	gold	mineralisation	

	
Marmota	has	adopted	an	updated	calcrete	sampling	methodology	from	that	originally	used	to	find	
Challenger.	The	aim	 is	 to	highlight	areas	of	gold	anomalism	with	 the	potential	 for	Challenger	and	
other	new	styles	of	gold	mineralisation.		

CAR	Prospect	
The	CAR	Prospect		[	see	Fig.	2	]	features	a	coherent	gold-in-calcrete	anomaly	[	ASX:MEU		30	July	2018	].	
During	the	financial	year,	Marmota	carried	out	a	small	early-stage	reconnaissance	drill	 test	at	 the	
CAR	prospect	[	ASX:MEU	 	30	April	2019	],	 located	about	70km	south	of	Aurora	Tank.	The	objective	of	
the	program	was	to	detect	gold	mineralisation	or	secondary	gold	dispersion	underneath	the	gold-in-
calcrete	anomalies.	The	test	 returned	4m	@	over	1	g/t	gold	 (from	70m	depth)	–	a	 result	 that	has	
potential,	 particularly	 for	 an	 early	 stage	 recon	 program,	 and	 particularly	 given	 the	 wide-spaced	
holes.	

	

COPPER	 Copper	Coast	–	Yorke	Peninsula	
The	Melton	tenements	are	situated	on	the	Copper	Coast	of	the	Yorke	Peninsula	in	South	Australia,	
approximately	 50km	 north	 of	 Rex	 Minerals	 Ltd’s	 Hillside	 copper-gold	 deposit,	 along	 the	 same	
eastern	 portion	 of	 the	mineral-rich	Olympic	 sub	 domain.	 Over	 the	 financial	 year,	 the	 Company’s	
priority	has	been	focused	on	its	new	gold	discovery	at	Aurora	Tank.		 	
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URANIUM		 Junction	Dam	

Highlights	
•		Junction	Dam	is	strategically	located	15	km	east	from	the	Honeymoon	in-situ	

recovery	(ISR)	uranium	mine		(west	of	Broken	Hill)	
•	 3	uranium	prospects	have	been	identified	by	Marmota	on	the	project	
•		Marmota	has:	

	
! JORC	Inferred	Resource	of	5.4	million	pounds	

with	average	grade	of	557ppm	U3O8				[ASX:MEU		18	July	2013	]	
	

! Overall	Exploration	Target	of	22	–	33	million	pounds		U3O8		5		
	

•		Grades	of	up	to	8,143ppm	U3O8	at	the	Saffron	deposit	
	

	
Figure	15:			 Location	of	Marmota’s	Junction	Dam	Uranium	Project		(SHADED)		

	 and	Boss	Resources	(ASX:BOE)	Honeymoon	Mine	and	Tenements	(red)	
	

Marmota	is	particularly	well-placed	for	any	upturn	in	the	uranium	sector,	with	an	existing	uranium	
JORC	Resource	that	the	Company	spent	millions	of	dollars	to	develop	in	prior	years,	and	which	is	
located	adjacent	to	one	of	only	4	permitted	mines	in	Australia.		
The	Board	is	watching	this	space	with	interest.		

	

																																																													
5		 Saffron	deposit	with	Bridget	and	Yolanda	prospects:		see	ASX:MEU		9	July	2012.		
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MEU		In	the	News					
Marmota’s	innovative	geochemical/biogeochemical	R&D	program	and	gold	
discoveries	are	attracting	both	national	and	international	attention.		
	

	
The	article	details	Marmota’s	R&D	biogeochemical	program	and	exploration	success.	

	

During	the	financial	year	and	subsequently,	the	Company’s	R&D	program	
and	its	gold	discoveries	were	featured	in,	amongst	many	others:	

! ABC	News		 7	Aug	2018	
! The	Australian		 20	Nov	2018	
! Adelaide	Advertiser		 15	Nov	2018	
! Australian	Mining	Review		 26	Nov	2018	
! Reuters		 6	March	2019	
! Sydney	Morning	Herald		 7	March	2019	
! IQ	Industry	Queensland		 25	March	2019	
! CSIROscope		 1	April	2019	
! Australian	Mining	Review		 1	April	2019	
! Resourceful	Magazine		 CSIRO	Issue	17		–		April	2019	
! Australian	Mining		 11	April	2019	
! The	Economist		 25	May	2019		
! Channel	7	News	 31	July	2019		
! The	Asia	Miner	 1	August	2019	
! Mining	Monthly	 1	August	2019		
! New	Scientist	 17	August	2019		
! Adelaide	Advertiser	 20	September	2019		
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The	Directors	present	their	report	on	Marmota	Limited	–	consolidated	entity	(‘Group’)	for	the	financial	year	

ended	30	June	2019	and	the	auditor’s	report	thereon.	

Directors		
The	Directors	of	Marmota	Limited	(‘the	Company’)	at	any	time	during	or	since	the	end	of	the	financial	year	are	

as	set	out	below.	Details	of	Directors’	qualifications,	experience	and	special	responsibilities	are	as	follows:	

	

Dr	Colin	Rose								 Executive	Chairman	

	 	 												PhD	(Economics)	

	

Experience	and	expertise	
Dr	Rose	has	been	non-executive	Chairman	of	Marmota	since	1	May	2015	and	Executive	Chairman	since	

5	June	2017.	Dr	Rose	holds	a	PhD	in	Economics	from	the	University	of	Sydney.	He	is	a	long-term	

fundamentals	investor	in	the	mining	and	exploration	sector,	with	particular	exposure	to	gold	and	copper.	

He	has	extensive	business	experience	as	the	founder	and	director	of	a	technology	company	whose	

software	is	used	in	over	55	countries.	He	has	been	invited	to	speak	to	the	Reserve	Bank	of	Australia,	the	

Bank	of	England,	the	National	Bureau	of	Economic	Research	(USA),	and	the	London	School	of	Economics	

(Financial	Markets	Group).	

	
Responsibilities	
Special	responsibilities	include	membership	of	the	Audit,	Governance	and	Remuneration	Committee.	

	
Interests	in	Shares	and	Options	(as	at	12	September	2019):			

	 •	87,965,839	ordinary	shares	 	

	

	
Mr	Peter	Thompson			Non-Executive	Director		 	 	(ceased	1	September	2019)	

	 BSc	Hons	(Geology),	MSc	(Mineral	Exploration	and	Mining	Geology)	

	
Experience	and	expertise	
Mr	Thompson	has	been	a	Board	member	since	26	May	2015.	He	is	a	Geologist	with	significant	industry	

experience	in	both	Exploration	and	Mining	roles.	Educated	at	Trinity	College	Dublin	(BSc	Hons	–	Geology)	and	

Leicester	University	(MSc	–	Mineral	Exploration	and	Mining	Geology),	he	has	worked	in	exploration	for	gold,	

copper,	nickel	and	platinoids,	and	in	open	pit	and	underground	gold	mines.	Over	a	career	of	29	years,	Mr	

Thompson	has	worked	for	BCD	Resources	NL	as	CEO,	at	St	Barbara	Mines	Limited	as	General	Manager	

Exploration,	as	well	as	holding	senior	exploration	and	project	development	roles	with	Jubilee	Mines	NL,	

Anaconda	Nickel	Ltd	and	Western	Mining	Corporation.	At	St	Barbara	Mines,	Mr	Thompson’s	responsibility	

included	managing	a	team	of	22	geoscientists.	In	addition	to	being	responsible	for	the	discovery	of	several	

nickel	and	gold	deposits,	he	has	extensive	mining	and	corporate	development	experience.	 	
	
Responsibilities	
Special	responsibilities	included	Chair	of	the	Audit,	Governance	and	Remuneration	Committee.	

	
Current	and	former	directorships	in	the	last	3	years	
Mr	Thompson	was	CEO	and	Managing	Director	of	Central	Asia	Resources	NL	(ASX:CVR)	from	4	July	2014	to	

8	February	2016	and	a	Non-Executive	Director	from	that	time	until	5	September	2016.	Peter	was	CEO	and	

Managing	Director	of	Capricorn	Metals	Ltd	(ASX:	CMM)	from	3	February	2016	until	14	March	2017.	

	

Interests	in	Shares	and	Options	(as	at	12	September	2019)			
	 •	3,919,763	ordinary	shares	

	 •	3,000,000	unlisted	3	cent	Options	(expiring	9	November	2021)	issued	under	the	Director	&	Employee	

	 	 				Share	Option	Plan	(DESOP)	
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Dr	Kevin	Wills					Executive	Director	–	Exploration	
	 BSc,	PhD,	ARSM,	FAusIMM	
	
Experience	and	expertise		
Dr	Wills	was	acting	Managing	Director	for	the	period	14	November	2016	to	30	January	2017,	and	Executive	

Director	(Exploration)	since	5	June	2017.	He	is	a	geologist	with	significant	experience	in	multi-commodity	

mineral	exploration	including	feasibility	studies,	mine	operations	and	corporate	activities	in	Australasia.	He	

has	been	closely	involved	in	the	discovery	and	evaluation	of	economic	mineral	deposits	of:	diamonds	(Argyle,	

WA),	base	metals	(Thalanga	&	Waterloo	QLD),	gold	(Murchison	WA	and	Challenger	SA),	mineral	sands	

(Burekup,	WA)	and	iron	ore	(Blacksmith	WA).	Dr	Wills	was	Managing	Director	of	Flinders	Mines	Limited	for	

over	ten	years.	He	is	an	Associate	of	the	Royal	School	of	Mines,	past	Chairman	of	the	Adelaide	Branch	and	a	

Fellow	of	the	Australian	Institute	of	Mining	and	Metallurgy.	Between	2010	and	2015,	he	was	an	Adjunct	

Associate	Professor	at	the	University	of	Adelaide	engaging	in	teaching	economic	geology	and	mineral	

exploration.	He	founded	the	SA	Exploration	and	Mining	Conference	in	2004	and	was	Chairman	of	the	

organising	committee	until	early	2018.	In	2016,	he	was	awarded	the	GSA’s	Joe	Harms	Medal	for	excellence	in	

mineral	exploration,	and	in	2017,	the	AusIMM’s	Institute	Service	Award.	

	
Responsibilities	
Dr	Wills	also	acts	as	Head	of	Exploration	and	as	a	competent	person	on	JORC	resource	reporting	matters.		

Current	and	former	directorships	in	the	last	3	years	
Dr	Wills	was	a	Director	of	Tychean	Resources	Limited	from	1	September	2015	to	18	December	2017.		
		

Interests	in	Shares	and	Options	(as	at	12	September	2019):			
	 •	930,062	fully	paid	ordinary	Shares	

	 •	2,000,000	unlisted	3	cent	Options	expiring	9	November	2021	issued	under	the	Director	&	Employee	

	 			Share	Option	Plan	(DESOP).	
	
	
	
Mr	Shane	Barker				Executive	Director	–	Production			 	 (appointed	1	September	2019)	

	 BAppSc	(Metallurgy)	

	
Experience	and	expertise	
Mr	Barker	joined	the	Board	on	1	September	2019	in	the	new	role	of:		Executive	Director	(Production).	He	is	a	

metallurgist	with	extensive	production	experience	over	more	than	30	years	at	companies	such	as	BHP	

(Olympic	Dam	Expansion	Study,	Kalgoorlie	and	Kambalda),	Evolution	Mining,	WMC,	Ross	Mining,	Sons	of	

Gwalia,	ALCOA,	Coolgardie	Gold	etc.	Mr	Barker	was	the	principal	metallurgist	and	Manager	of	the	Processing	

team	operating	the	highly	successful	White	Dam	gold	heap	leach	mine	in	South	Australia.	He	has	worked	both	

within	Australia	and	internationally.	His	experience	has	encompassed	most	metallurgical	unit	processes	such	

as	crushing,	grinding,	flotation,	CIL/CIP,	heap	leaching,	BiOX,	thickening,	filtration	and	tailings	management.	

	

Responsibilities	
Mr	Barker	will	be	providing	part-time	consulting	services	as	Head	of	Production.	

	

Interests	in	Shares	and	Options	(as	at	12	September	2019):			
	 •	Nil	
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Directors’	meetings	
The	number	of	Directors’	meetings	and	number	of	meetings	attended	by	each	of	the	Directors	of	the	Company	

(including	committees	of	Directors)	during	the	financial	year	were	as	follows:	

	
	 Directors’	Meetings	

Audit,	Governance	and	Remuneration	
Committee	Meetings	

	
Number	Eligible		

to	attend	

	

Number	attended	

Number	Eligible										

to	attend	

	

Number	attended	

Director	
	 	 	 	

Dr	Colin	Rose	 9	 9	 2	 2	

Peter	Thompson	 9	 9	 2	 2	

Dr	Kevin	Wills	 9	 9	 -	 -	

	 	 	 	 	

Company	Secretary	

Lisa	Askham-Levy	(CGMA)	was	appointed	Company	Secretary,	effective	18	January	2018.	

Ms	Askham-Levy	is	a	Member	of	the	Chartered	Institute	of	Management	Accountants.		She	has	over	10	years	of	

accounting	experience,	including	accounting	positions	in	a	number	of	listed	companies.	Lisa	has	worked	within	

the	healthcare,	finance	and	not-for-profit	industries.	

Principal	activities	
The	Group’s	principal	activity	is	minerals	exploration.	

Review	and	results	of	operations		
During	the	Financial	Year,	Marmota	focused	its	exploration	efforts	on	its	highly	prospective	gold	tenements	in	

the	Gawler	Craton	which	is	yielding	excellent	results.	

	
Corporate	
The	Company	continues	to	benefit	from	the	major	cost	saving	measures	implemented	in	recent	years,	which	

have	led	to	annual	savings	estimated	to	be	around	$800,000	per	annum.	Those	same	funds	saved	are	now	

targeted	into	active	exploration,	and	that	exploration	has	already	yielded	the	Company	and	its	shareholders	

an	exciting	new	gold	discovery	at	Aurora	Tank.	

Over	the	financial	year,	the	Company	raised	$1.32million	in	capital	(before	costs)	via	placement	to	

sophisticated	and	professional	investors.	The	Company	is	very	pleased	to	welcome	our	new	shareholders,	is	

very	grateful	for	their	support,	and	is	equally	working	hard	to	reward	that	support!	

With	new	capital	and	reduced	costs,	the	net	effect	is	that	Marmota	can	operate	as	a	nimble	and	effective	

explorer,	able	to	carry	out	not	just	one,	but	multiple	drilling	programs	in	a	year,	dramatically	speeding	up	the	

process	of	discovery,	with	a	small	highly-focused	and	professional	team.	That	team,	including	directors	and	

staff,	includes	4	experienced	geologists.	Most	importantly,	that	team	and	these	programs	are	already	yielding	

our	shareholders	exploration	success.	

Gold	Discovery	at	Aurora	Tank	
Marmota’s	gold	discovery	at	Aurora	Tank	is	yielding	outstanding	intersections	over	100	g/t	gold,	close	to	
surface.	In	May	2019,	Aurora	Tank	was	featured	in	‘Top	Drill	Intersections	per	State	–	Australia	–	Q1	2019’	
published	by	the�RSC	Mineral	Intelligence	Report	(May	2019:	p.9	of	the	RSC	Report).		

	

Phase	2	metallurgical	testwork	at	Aurora	Tank	returned	overall	gold	recoveries	of	96%	and	93%	on	supergene	
and	transitional	samples	respectively	[ASX:MEU		20	Aug	2018	].		

Over	the	financial	year,	Marmota	carried	out	both	RC	and	AC	drilling	programs	at	Aurora	Tank,	including	

extensional	and	reconnaissance	programs.			
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R&D	Program	and	Biogeochem	Exploration	Program	
Marmota’s	R&D	program	on	biogeochem	sampling	(tree	leaves)	is	receiving	international	attention,	including	

being	featured	on	the	cover	of	The	Economist	(25	May	2019).	Marmota’s	application	of	knowledge	learned	

from	that	program	is	yielding	the	company	new	gold	exploration	success.	

	

Returning	funds	to	shareholders	
Marmota	is	also	very	pleased	to	have	successfully	participated	in	the	Australian	Government’s	Junior	Mineral	

Exploration	Incentive	(JMEI)	program	under	which	Marmota	distributed	$275,000	of	Taxation	Credits	back	to	

eligible	shareholders	in	January	2019.	

	

	

We	look	forward	to	the	year	ahead!	
	
	
Competent	person	statement	
The	information	in	this	report	that	relates	to	Exploration	Results	and	Mineral	Resources	is	based	on	information	compiled	by	Dr	Kevin	

Wills	who	is	a	Fellow	of	the	Australasian	Institute	of	Mining	and	Metallurgy.	He	has	sufficient	experience	which	is	relevant	to	the	styles	of	

mineralisation	and	types	of	deposits	under	consideration	and	to	the	activities	being	undertaken	to	qualify	as	a	Competent	Person	as	

defined	in	the	2012	Edition	of	the	“Australasian	Code	for	Reporting	of	Exploration	Results,	Mineral	Resources	and	Ore	Reserves”.	Dr	Wills	

consents	to	the	inclusion	in	the	report	of	the	matters	based	on	his	information	in	the	form	and	context	in	which	they	appear.	

Where	results	from	previous	announcements	are	quoted,	Marmota	confirms	that	it	is	not	aware	of	any	new	information	or	data	that	

materially	affects	the	information	included	in	the	relevant	market	announcement	and,	in	the	case	of	estimates	of	Mineral	Resources,	that	

all	material	assumptions	and	technical	parameters	underpinning	the	estimates	in	the	relevant	market	announcement	continue	to	apply	and	

have	not	materially	changed.	

Results	
During	the	year,	the	Group	continued	exploration	activities	at	its	tenements.	Total	cash	expenditure	on	

exploration	and	evaluation	activities	totalled	$1,193,597.	

The	net	loss	of	the	Group	after	income	tax	was	$317,753	(2018:	loss	$306,747).	

The	net	assets	of	the	Group	have	increased	by	$950,418	during	the	financial	year	from	$7,923,735	at	30	June	

2018	to	$8,874,153	at	30	June	2019.	

Dividends	
No	dividends	have	been	paid	or	provided	by	the	Group	since	the	end	of	the	previous	financial	year	(2018:	nil).		

Junior	Mineral	Exploration	Incentive	(JMEI)	Credits	
Marmota	distributed	$275,000	of	JMEI	Taxation	Credits	back	to	eligible	shareholders	in	January	2019,	relating	

to	new	investments	made	in	Marmota	during	the	year	to	30	June	2018.		

State	of	affairs	
There	have	been	no	significant	changes	in	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	Group	during	the	year.	

Events	subsequent	to	reporting	date	
There	has	not	arisen	any	matters	or	circumstances,	since	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	which	significantly	

affected	or	could	significantly	affect	the	operations	of	the	Group,	the	results	of	those	operations,	or	the	state	

of	the	Group	in	future	years.	
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Likely	developments	
The	Group’s	strategy	is	to	explore	for	gold,	high	grade	base	metals	and	uranium	within	the	Company’s	highly	

prospective	portfolio	of	projects.	The	Board	of	Marmota	Limited	is	pursuing	a	balance	of	direct	self-funded	

exploration	and	exploration	via	strategic	partnerships	and	funding	arrangements.	The	primary	focus	of	

exploration	is	directed	at	progressing	the	Company’s	Gawler	Craton	gold	project	which	is	already	yielding	

excellent	results.		

Environmental	regulation	and	performance	statement	
The	Group’s	operations	are	subject	to	significant	environmental	regulations	under	both	Commonwealth	and	

South	Australian	legislation	in	relation	to	discharge	of	hazardous	waste	and	materials	arising	from	any	mining	

activities	and	development	conducted	by	the	Group	on	any	of	its	tenements.	To	date	the	Group	has	only	

carried	out	exploration	activities	and	there	have	been	no	known	breaches	of	any	environmental	obligations.	

Indemnification	and	insurance	of	officers	

Indemnification	
The	Company	is	required	to	indemnify	the	Directors	and	other	Officers	of	the	Company	against	any	liabilities	

incurred	by	the	Directors	and	Officers	that	may	arise	from	their	position	as	Directors	and	Officers	of	the	

Company.	No	costs	were	incurred	during	the	year	pursuant	to	this	indemnity.	

The	Company	has	entered	into	deeds	of	indemnity	with	each	Director	whereby,	to	the	extent	permitted	by	

the	Corporations	Act	2001,	the	Company	agreed	to	indemnify	each	Director	against	all	loss	and	liability	

incurred	as	an	officer	of	the	Company,	including	all	liability	in	defending	any	relevant	proceedings.	

Insurance	premiums	
Since	the	end	of	the	previous	year,	the	Company	has	paid	insurance	premiums	in	respect	of	Directors’	and	

Officers’	liability	and	legal	expenses’	insurance	contracts.	

The	terms	of	the	policies	prohibit	disclosure	of	details	of	the	amount	of	the	insurance	cover,	the	nature	

thereof	and	the	premium	paid.	

Options	
At	the	date	of	this	report,	unissued	ordinary	shares	of	Marmota	Limited	under	option	are:	

Expiry	date*	 Exercise	price	 Number	of	Options	 Vested	 Unvested	 Amount	paid/payable	
by	recipient	($)	

16/12/2019	 $0.018	 550,000	 550,000	 			-	 -	

06/10/2021	 $0.03	 500,000	 500,000	 			-	 -	

09/11/2021	 $0.03	 5,000,000	 5,000,000	 			-	 -	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	*	 All	options	may	be	exercised	at	any	time	before	expiry	subject	to	escrow	restrictions.	Option	holders	will	receive	one	

ordinary	share	in	the	capital	of	the	Company	for	each	option	exercised.	

These	options	do	not	entitle	the	holder	to	participate	in	any	share	issue	of	the	Company	or	any	other	body	

corporate.	During	the	financial	year,	no	ordinary	shares	were	issued	by	the	Company	as	a	result	of	the	

exercise	of	options	(2018:	nil).	There	were	no	amounts	unpaid	on	shares	issued.	

Proceedings	on	behalf	of	the	Company	
No	person	has	applied	to	the	Court	for	leave	to	bring	proceedings	on	behalf	of	the	Company	or	to	intervene	in	

any	proceedings	to	which	the	Company	is	a	party	for	the	purpose	of	taking	responsibility	on	behalf	of	the	

Company	for	all	or	part	of	those	proceedings.	The	Company	was	not	a	party	to	any	such	proceedings	during	

the	year.	
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Corporate	Governance	Statement	
The	Company’s	Corporate	Governance	Statement	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	may	be	accessed	from	the	

Company’s	website	at:		www.marmota.com.au/corporate/policies		

Non-audit	services	
There	were	no	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors	of	the	Parent	or	its	related	entities	during	

the	year	ended	30	June	2019.	

Auditor	of	the	Company	
The	auditor	of	the	Company	for	the	financial	year	was	Grant	Thornton	Audit	Pty	Ltd.		

Auditor’s	independence	declaration	
The	auditor’s	independence	declaration	as	required	by	section	307C	of	the	Corporations	Act	2001	for	the	year	

ended	30	June	2019	is	set	out	immediately	following	the	end	of	the	Directors’	report.	
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Remuneration	Report	

Remuneration	policy	
The	remuneration	policy	of	Marmota	Limited	has	been	designed	to	align	key	management	personnel	objectives	

with	shareholder	and	business	objectives	by	providing	a	fixed	remuneration	component	and	offering	other	

incentives	based	on	performance	in	achieving	key	objectives	as	approved	by	the	Board.	The	Board	of	Marmota	

Limited	believes	the	remuneration	policy	to	be	appropriate	and	effective	in	its	ability	to	attract	and	retain	the	

best	key	management	personnel	to	run	and	manage	the	Company,	as	well	as	create	goal	congruence	between	

directors,	executives	and	shareholders.	

The	Company’s	policy	for	determining	the	nature	and	amounts	of	emoluments	of	Board	members	and	other	key	

management	personnel	of	the	Company	is	as	follows.	

Remuneration	and	Nomination		
The	Audit,	Governance	and	Remuneration	Committee	oversees	remuneration	matters	and	makes	

recommendations	to	the	Board	on	remuneration	policy,	fees	and	remuneration	packages	for	non-executive	

directors	and	senior	executives.	Details	of	the	committee’s	members	and	its	responsibilities	are	set	out	in	the	

Corporate	Governance	Statement.	

	

Non-executive	Remuneration	Policies	
The	Company’s	Constitution	specifies	that	the	total	amount	of	remuneration	of	Non-executive	Directors	shall	be	

fixed	from	time	to	time	by	a	general	meeting.	The	current	maximum	aggregate	remuneration	of	Non-executive	

Directors	has	been	set	at	$400,000	per	annum.	Directors	may	apportion	any	amount	up	to	this	maximum	

amount	amongst	the	Non-executive	Directors	as	they	determine.	Directors	are	also	entitled	to	be	paid	

reasonable	travelling,	accommodation	and	other	expenses	incurred	in	performing	their	duties	as	Directors.	The	

fees	paid	to	Non-executive	Directors	are	not	incentive	or	performance	based	but	are	fixed	amounts	that	are	

determined	by	reference	to	the	nature	of	the	role,	responsibility	and	time	commitment	required	for	the	

performance	of	the	role	including	membership	of	board	committees.	The	fees	are	set	by	the	Audit,	Governance	

and	Remuneration	Committee	which	consults	independent	advice	from	time	to	time.	

Non-executive	Directors	do	not	receive	bonus	payments	and	are	not	provided	with	retirement	benefits	other	

than	salary	sacrifice	and	statutory	superannuation.	

	

Executive	Remuneration	Policies	
The	remuneration	of	the	Managing	Director	is	determined	by	the	Audit,	Governance	and	Remuneration	

Committee	and	approved	by	the	Board	as	part	of	the	terms	and	conditions	of	his/her	employment	which	are	

subject	to	review	from	time	to	time.	The	remuneration	of	other	executive	officers	and	employees	is	determined	

by	the	Executive	Chairman	subject	to	the	approval	of	the	Board.	

The	Company’s	remuneration	structure	is	based	on	a	number	of	factors	including	the	particular	experience	and	

performance	of	the	individual	in	meeting	key	objectives	of	the	Company.	The	Audit,	Governance	and	

Remuneration	Committee	is	responsible	for	assessing	relevant	employment	market	conditions	and	achieving	

the	overall,	long	term	objective	of	maximising	shareholder	benefits,	through	the	retention	of	high	quality	

personnel.	

The	remuneration	structure	and	packages	offered	to	executives	are	summarised	below:	

- Short-term	incentive	-	The	Company	does	not	presently	emphasise	payment	for	results	through	the	provision	

of	cash	bonus	schemes	or	other	incentive	payments	based	on	key	performance	indicators	of	Marmota	Limited	

given	the	nature	of	the	Company’s	business	as	a	mineral	exploration	entity	and	the	current	status	of	its	

activities.	However,	the	Board	may	approve	the	payment	of	cash	bonuses	from	time	to	time	in	order	to	

reward	individual	executive	performance	in	achieving	key	objectives	as	considered	appropriate	by	the	Board.	
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- Long-term	incentive	–	equity	grants,	which	may	be	granted	annually	at	the	discretion	of	the	Board.	From	time	

to	time,	the	Company	may	grant	retention	rights	as	considered	appropriate	by	the	Audit,	Governance	and	

Remuneration	Committee	and	the	Board,	as	a	long-term	incentive	for	key	management	personnel.	These	

rights	are	subject	to	shareholder	approval	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting	in	the	year	of	grant.	The	intention	of	

this	remuneration	is	to	facilitate	the	retention	of	key	management	personnel	in	order	that	the	goals	of	the	

business	and	shareholders	can	be	met.	Under	the	terms	of	the	issue	of	the	retention	rights,	the	rights	will	vest	

over	a	period	of	time,	with	a	proportion	of	the	rights	vesting	each	year.		

The	Company	also	has	a	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	approved	by	shareholders	that	will	enable	the	

Board	to	offer	eligible	employees	options	to	acquire	ordinary	fully	paid	shares	in	the	Company.	Under	the	

terms	of	the	Plan,	options	for	ordinary	fully	paid	shares	may	be	offered	to	the	Company’s	eligible	employees	

at	no	cost	unless	otherwise	determined	by	the	Board	in	accordance	with	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Plan.		

The	objective	of	the	Plan	is	to	align	the	interests	of	employees	and	shareholders	by	providing	employees	of	

the	Company	with	the	opportunity	to	participate	in	the	equity	of	the	Company	as	an	incentive	to	achieve	

greater	success	and	profitability	for	the	Company	and	to	maximise	the	long-term	performance	of	the	

Company.		

At	this	time,	there	is	no	relationship	between	remuneration	of	Key	Management	Personnel	and	the	Company’s	

performance	over	the	last	five	years.	

	

Remuneration	Consultants	
The	company	did	not	use	any	remuneration	consultants	during	the	year.	

Shares	issued	on	exercise	of	remuneration	options	
No	shares	were	issued	to	Directors	as	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	remuneration	options	during	the	financial	year.	

Remuneration	of	Directors	and	key	management	personnel	
This	report	details	the	nature	and	amount	of	remuneration	for	each	key	management	personnel	of	the	

consolidated	entity	and	for	the	executives	receiving	the	highest	remuneration.	

(a)	Directors	and	key	management	personnel	
The	names	and	positions	held	by	Directors	and	key	management	personnel	of	the	consolidated	entity	during	the	

whole	of	the	financial	year	are:	

Directors	 Position	
Dr	C	Rose	 Chairman			 	 				Non-executive		 from	1	May	2015	to	4	June	2017	

Executive	Chairman										Executive		 	 from	5	June	2017	

Mr	P	Thompson	 Director			 	 				Non-executive		 from	26	May	2015	to	1	September	2019	

Dr	K	Wills	 Head	of	Exploration	 	 	 	 from	8	March	2016		

Executive	Director												Acting	MD		 	 from	14	November	2016	to	30	January	2017	

Executive	Director	 from	5	June	2017	

	 	

Key	Management	
Personnel	

	

Ms	L	Askham-Levy	 Company	Secretary	and	CFO	 	 	 from	18	January	2018	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

31



Marmota	Limited	and	Controlled	Entities	
Directors’	Report	(continued)	
Remuneration	Report	–	Audited		

 

 
 

(b)	Directors’	remuneration		
	
	 Short	Term	Employee	

Benefits	

														Post-Employee	

															Benefits		

Long	Term	

Employee	

Benefits	

Share-based	

payments	

2019	primary	benefits	

Directors’	
fees	
$	

Fixed	
Remuneration	

$	

Non-
Monetary	
Benefits	

$	

Super	
contributions			

$	

Change	in	
LSL	

Provision	
$	

Option	
based	
benefits		

$	

Share	
based	

payments	
$	

Total	
$	

Directors	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dr	C	Rose	 1	 72,151	 -	 12,848	 -	 -	 -	 85,000	

Mr	P	Thompson*	 34,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 34,000	

Dr	K	Wills**	 -	 69,383	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 69,383	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 34,001	 141,534	 -	 12,848	 -	 -	 -	 188,383	

	
	
	
	

	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	

	 	 	

	

	 Short	Term	Employee	

Benefits	

														Post-Employee	

															Benefits		

Long	Term	

Employee	

Benefits	

Share-based	

payments	

2018	primary	benefits	

Directors’	
fees	
$	

Fixed	
Remuneration	

$	

Non-
Monetary	
Benefits	

$	

Super	
contributions			

$	

Change	in	
LSL	

Provision	
$	

Option	
based	
benefits		

$	

Share	
based	

payments	
$	

Total	
$	

Directors	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dr	C	Rose	 1	 72,151	 -	 12,848	 -	 -	 -	 85,000	

Mr	P	Thompson*	 18,417	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 17,000	 35,417	

Dr	K	Wills**	 -	 64,536	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 64,536	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 18,418	 136,687	 -	 12,848	 -	 -	 17,000	 184,953	

	

There	were	no	cash	bonuses	paid	in	2019	or	2018.	

*					Directors	fees	for	Mr	Thompson	are	paid	to	a	related	entity	of	the	Director.		

**			Directors	fees	for	Dr	Wills	are	paid	to	a	related	entity	of	the	Director.		
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(c)	Key	management	personnel	remuneration	
	

	
Short	term	employee	

benefits	 Long	term	employee	benefits	 		

2019	primary	benefits	
Invoiced	

$	

Option	based	
benefits	

$	

Share	based	
Payments	

$	
Total	
$	

Proportion	of	

remuneration	related		

to	performance	

Key	management	personnel	excluding	Directors	 	

L	Askham-Levy*	 43,800	 -	 -	 43,800	 -	

	 43,800	 -	 -	 43,800	 -	

	

	

2018	primary	benefits	
Invoiced	

$	

Option	based	
benefits	

$	

Share	based	
Payments	

$	
Total	
$	

Proportion	of	

remuneration	related		

to	performance	

Key	management	personnel	excluding	Directors	 	

L	Askham-Levy*	 20,200	 -	 -	 20,200	 -	

V	Allinson**		 32,292	 -	 -	 32,292	 -	

	 52,492	 -	 -	 52,492	 -	

	

There	were	no	cash	bonuses	paid	in	2019	or	2018.	

*		 Ms	Askham-Levy	was	appointed	as	Company	Secretary	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	on	18	January	2018.		Ms	Askham-

Levy	provides	outsourced	accounting	services.		

**			Ms	Allinson	was	appointed	as	Company	Secretary	on	14	November	2016	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	on	14	January	

2017.	Ms	Allinson	and	her	team	provided	outsourced	accounting	services	via	a	company	she	controls,	Allinson	

Accounting	Solutions	Pty	Ltd,	from	14	January	2017	to	17	January	2018.		

	

(d)	Share	based	payments	 	 	 	

Share-based	payments	are	in	line	with	the	Marmota	Limited	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan.			

Listed	below	are	summaries	of	options	granted:	

(i) Options	issued	to	directors	and	key	management	personnel	

No	options	were	issued	to	directors	and	key	management	personnel	during	the	year.	

Key	management	personnel	Option	based	payments	in	the	previous	year:	

• On	9	November	2016,	5,000,000	share	options	were	granted	to	directors	and	employees	under	the	

Marmota	Limited	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	to	take	up	ordinary	shares	at	an	exercise	price	

of	$0.03	each.	These	options	are	exercisable	on	or	before	9	November	2021,	with	Black	Scholes	

valuation:	

o Mr	P	Thompson		$9,686	

o Dr	K	Wills		 $6,458	

	

	

	

The	options	are	non-transferable	except	as	allowed	under	the	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	and	

are	not	quoted	securities.		At	reporting	date,	other	than	as	disclosed	in	the	table	above,	no	share	options	had	

been	exercised.	All	options	granted	to	key	management	personnel	are	over	ordinary	shares	in	Marmota	

Limited,	which	confer	a	right	of	one	ordinary	share	for	every	option	held.	
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The	fair	value	of	the	options	granted	was	calculated	by	using	the	Black-Scholes	option	pricing	model	applying	

the	following	inputs:	

	 Nov	2016	issue	
	 	

Weighted	average	fair	value		 $0.003	

	 	

Weighted	average	exercise	price	 $0.03	

Weighted	average	life	of	the	option	 1,825	

Underlying	share	price	 $0.016	

Expected	share	price	volatility	 41.8%	

Risk	free	interest	rate	 1.8%	

The	life	of	the	option	is	based	on	the	days	remaining	until	expiry.	Volatility	is	based	on	historical	share	prices.	

The	options	hold	no	voting	or	dividends	rights	and	are	unlisted.	The	options	lapse	6	months	subsequent	to	

the	cessation	of	employment	with	the	Group.	There	are	no	vesting	conditions	attached	to	the	options.	

	

	

(ii) Share	based	payments	to	key	management	personnel	

There	were	no	share	based	payments	to	key	management	personnel	in	the	current	or	prior	year.	

	

(e)	Service	agreements	 	 	 	

Dr	Rose	moved	from	the	role	of	non-executive	Chairman	to	Executive	Chairman	on	5	June	2017.	The	salary	

under	the	terms	of	his	employment	was	set	at	$85,000	per	annum	inclusive	of	superannuation	guarantee	

contributions	and	included	a	one-month	notice	period.		

Dr	Wills	was	appointed	Executive	Director	on	5	June	2017.	In	accordance	with	this	agreement,	Dr	Wills	is	

remunerated	as	follows:	

• From	5	June	2017,	Dr	Wills’	remuneration	amounts	to	$5,782	per	month	(excluding	GST)	as	Executive	

Director.	The	amount	of	hours	varies	if	Dr	Wills	is	required	to	work	additional	days.	

There	were	no	post-employment,	retirement	or	termination	benefits	previously	approved	by	members	of	the	

Company	in	a	general	meeting,	nor	any	such	benefits	paid	to	Directors	of	the	Company.		
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(f)	Director	related	entities	

Directors’	transactions	with	the	Company	
A	number	of	Directors	of	the	Company,	or	their	Director	related	entities,	held	positions	in	other	entities	

during	the	financial	year	that	result	in	them	having	control	or	significant	influence	over	the	financial	or	

operating	policies	of	those	entities.	

The	terms	and	conditions	of	the	transactions	with	Directors	and	their	Director	related	entities	were	no	

more	favourable	to	the	Directors	and	their	Director	related	entities	than	those	available,	or	which	might	

reasonably	be	expected	to	be	available,	on	similar	transactions	to	Non-director	related	entities	on	an	

arm’s	length	basis.	

There	are	no	amounts	recognised	during	the	year	or	the	prior	year	(excluding	remuneration	and	re-

imbursement	of	expenses	incurred	on	behalf	of	the	Company)	relating	to	Directors	and	their	Director	

related	entities.		

Amounts	receivable	from	and	payable	to	Directors	and	their	Director	related	entities	at	reporting	date	

arising	from	these	transactions	were	as	follows:	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 	 2019	

	 $	

	 2018	

	 $	

Current	receivables	 	 	 	

Loan	to	director	related	entity	 	 -	 -	

Loan	to	associate	 	 -	 -	

	 	 -	 -	

Current	payables	 	 	 	

Amounts	payable	to	directors
(1)
	 	 28,749	 4,558	

Accrued	directors	fees
(1)
	 	 -	 22,067	

	 	 28,749	 26,625	

	

(1)	FY19	amount	is	amount	payable	for	Director’s	fees	to	the	director	or	(related	entity)	of:	

• Dr	C	Rose	$21,250	(FY18	$15,167);	and	

• Mr	P	Thompson	$3,117	(FY18	$4,391);	and	

• Dr	K	Wills	$4,382	(FY18	$7,067).	
	

	
	
	
(g)	Post-employment/retirement	and	termination	benefits	
Other	than	superannuation	contributions,	there	were	no	post-employment	retirement	and	termination	

benefits	paid	or	payable	to	directors	and	key	management	personnel.		

	
	
(h)	Directors	and	key	management	personnel	equity	remuneration,	holdings	and	transactions		
(i) Share	holdings	

The	number	of	shares	in	the	company	held	during	the	financial	year	by	each	director	of	Marmota	Limited	and	

other	key	management	personnel	of	the	group,	including	their	personal	related	parties,	are	set	out	below.	

There	were	no	shares	granted	to	directors	or	key	management	personnel	during	the	financial	year.	
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(1) 	Net	changes	represent	securities	purchased	during	the	financial	year.		

(ii) Option	holdings	

The	number	of	options	over	ordinary	shares	in	the	company	held	during	the	financial	year	by	each	director	of	

Marmota	Limited	and	any	other	key	management	personnel	of	the	group,	including	their	personal	related	

parties,	are	set	out	below.		

	

	

	

Options	 		
Balance	
1/07/18	

Received	
as	

remuneration	
Options	
exercised	

Net	
change	
other	

Balance	
30/06/19	 	

Total	vested	
30/06/19	

Total	
exercisable	
30/06/19	

Held	by	Directors	in	own	
name	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dr	C	Rose	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 -	 -	

Mr	P	Thompson	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 -	 -	

Dr	K	Wills	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 -	 -	

	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	

-	 -	

	
	
Directors’	personally	related	entities	

	 	 	
	

	 	

Dr	C	Rose	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 	 -	 -	

Mr	P	Thompson
(1)
	 	 3,000,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	

	
-	 3,000,000	

Dr	K	Wills
(1)	
	 	 2,000,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	

	
-	 2,000,000	

Total	held	by	Directors		 5,000,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	

-	 5,000,000	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	

(1)	 3	million	unlisted	3	cent	Options	expiring	9	November	2021	were	issued	to	Mr	Thompson	under	the	Director	&	

Employee	Share	Option	Plan	(DESOP)	on	9	November	2016,	and	2	million	of	the	same	options	to	Dr	Wills.		

(iii) Share	rights	holdings	

No	rights	over	ordinary	shares	in	the	company	were	held	during	the	financial	year	by	any	director	of	

Marmota	Limited	or	by	any	other	key	management	personnel	of	the	group,	including	their	personal	

related	parties.	No	share	rights	were	granted	to	directors	or	key	management	personnel	during	the	

financial	year.	

No	options	previously	granted	to	Directors	or	Director	related	entities	were	exercised	during	the	year.	

	

End	of	Remuneration	Report	

	

Shares	
Balance	
1/07/18	

Received	
as	

remuneration	
Options	
exercised	

Net	change	
Other(1)	

Balance	
30/06/19	

Total	held	in	
escrow	
30/06/19	

Held	by	Directors	in	own	name	 	 	 	 	 	
Dr	C	Rose	 70,156,388	 -	 -	 16,958,135	 87,114,523	 -	

Mr	P	Thompson	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Dr	K	Wills	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Held	by	Directors’	personally	related	entities	 	 	 	 	

Dr	C	Rose	 851,316	 							-	 -	 -	 851,316	 -	

Mr	P	Thompson	 3,919,963	 -	 -	 -	 3,919,763	 -	

Dr	K	Wills	 930,062	 -	 -	 -	 930,062	 -	

Total	held	by	Directors	 75,857,529	 -	 -	 16,958,135	 92,815,664	 -	
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The	Report	of	Directors,	incorporating	the	Remuneration	Report,	is	signed	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	of	

the	Board	of	Directors:	

	

	

	

	

Dr	Colin	Rose	

Chairman	

	

Dated	at	Sydney	this	26
th
	day	of	September	2019	
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 3, 170 Frome Street 
Adelaide SA  5000 
 
Correspondence to: 
GPO Box 1270 
Adelaide SA  5001 
 
T +61 8 8372 6666 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of Marmota Limited 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of Marmota 
Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit 

 
 
 
 
GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
B K Wundersitz 
Partner – Audit & Assurance  
 
Adelaide, 26 September 2019 
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Profit	and	Loss	and	Other	Comprehensive	Income	
For	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	 	

 

 
 

	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 Note	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	 	 	 	

Other	revenues	 2	 						13,690		 						15,186		

Total	revenue	 	 						13,690		 						15,186		

	 	 	 	

Administration	expenses	 3	 129,461		 				110,883		

Consulting	expenses	 3	 				55,670		 				45,985		

Depreciation	expense	 3	 						1,777		 						4,141		

Employment	expenses	 3	 				138,874	 				123,710		

Occupancy	expenses	 3	 5,661		 								6,119		

Impairment	of	assets	 3	 						-		 						-		

(Loss)	before	income	tax	expense	 	 (317,753)	 		(275,652)	

Income	tax	(expense)		 4	 				-	 				(31,095)	

(Loss)	for	the	year	 	 		(317,753)	 		(306,747)	

	 	 	 	

Loss	attributable	to	members	of	the	parent	entity	 	 (317,753)	 		(306,747)	

	 	 								 								

Other	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year	 	 		(317,753)	 		(306,747)	

	 	 	 	

Basic	earnings	per	share	(cents)	 6	 (0.048	cents)	 (0.054	cents)	

	 	 	 	

Diluted	earnings	per	share	(cents)	 6	 (0.048	cents)	 (0.054	cents)	

	 	 	 	

	

	

	

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.	
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 Note	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	 	 	 	

Current	assets	 	 	 	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 7	 1,374,131	 1,524,225	

Trade	and	other	receivables	 8	 36,924	 84,958	

Other	assets	 9	 16,772	 24,593	

Total	current	assets	 	 1,427,827	 1,683,776	

	 	 	 	

Non-current	assets	 	 	 	

Plant	and	equipment	 10	 24,336	 43,261	

Investments	in	associates	 11	 1	 1	

Financial	assets	 12	 4,000	 8,000	

Trade	and	other	receivables	 	 30,000	 30,000	

Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 15	 7,800,725	 6,446,266	

Total	non-current	assets	 	 7,859,062	 6,527,528	

	 	 	 	

Total	assets	 	 9,286,888	 8,161,304	

	 	 	 	

Current	liabilities	 	 	 	

Trade	and	other	payables	 16	 391,170	 218,536	

Provisions	 17	 10,162	 12,908	

Total	current	liabilities	 	 401,332	 231,444	

	 	 	 	

Non-current	liabilities	 	 	 	

Provisions	 17	 11,375	 6,125	

Total	non-current	liabilities	 	 11,375	 6,125	

	 	 	 	

Total	liabilities	 	 412,707	 237,569	

	 	 	 	

Net	assets	 	 8,874,181	 7,923,735	

	 	 	 	

Equity	 	 	 	

Issued	capital	 18	 38,616,749	 37,344,550	

Reserves	 26	 10,356	 14,356	

Retained	losses	 	 (29,752,924)	 (29,435,171)	

	 	 	 	

Total	equity	 	 8,874,181	 7,923,735	

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.	
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Issued	

capital		

Share	

option	

reserve		

Available	

for	sale	

reserve	

FVOCI	

reserve	 Retained	 Total	

(Note	18)	 (Note	26)	
(Note	26)	

(Note	26)	 Earnings	

	$	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance	at	1	July	2017	 34,909,527	 29,640	 (7,500)	 -	 (29,136,208)	 5,795,459	

Loss	attributable	to	the	

members	of	the	parent	entity	
-	 -	

-	
-	 (306,747)	 (306,747)	

Other	comprehensive	income	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Total	comprehensive	income	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (306,747)	 (306,747)	

Transactions	with	owners	in	
their	capacity	as	owners:	 	

	 	

	 	 	

Shares	issued	during	the	year		 2,517,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,517,000	

Options	issued	during	the	

year		
-	 -	

-	
-	 -	 -	

Options	expired	or	exercised	 -	 (7,784)	 -	 -	 7,784	 -	

Transaction	costs	associated	

with	the	issue	of	shares	net	of	

tax	

(81,977)	 -	

-	

-	 -	 (81,977)	

	
2,435,023	 (7,784)	 (7,500)	 -	 7,784	 2,235,023	

	
		 		 	 		 		 		

Balance	at	30	June	2018	 37,344,550	 21,856	 (7,500)	 -	 (29,435,171)	 7,923,735	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance	at	1	July	2018	 37,344,550	 21,856	 (7,500)	 -	 (29,435,171)	 7,923,735	

Loss	attributable	to	the	

members	of	the	parent	entity	
-	 -	

-	
-	 (317,753)	 (317,753)	

Other	comprehensive	income	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Total	comprehensive	income	 -	 -	 (7,500)	 -	 (317,753)	 (317,753)	

Transactions	with	owners	in	
their	capacity	as	owners:	 	

	
	

	 	 	

Shares	issued	during	the	year		 1,320,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,320,000	

Transaction	costs	associated	

with	the	issue	of	shares	net	of	

tax	

(47,801)	 	-	

-	

	-	 	-	 (47,801)	

Reclassification	of	financial	

instruments	under	AASB	9	
-	 -	

7,500	
(7,500)	 -	 -	

Equity	instruments	at	fair	

value	through	OCI	

	

-	
-	

-	

(4,000)	 -	

	

(4,000)	  

	
1,272,199	 -	 7,500	 (11,500)	 -	 1,268,199	

	
		 		 	 		 		 		

Balance	at	30	June	2019	 38,616,749	 21,856	 -	 (11,500)	 (29,752,924)	 8,874,181	

	

	

	

	

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 Note	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	 	 	 	

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities	 	 	 	

Cash	receipts	in	the	course	of	operations	 	 -	 2,500	

Cash	payments	in	the	course	of	operations	 	 (273,520)	 (238,431)		

Interest	received	 	 13,690	 	12,686		

Net	cash	(used	in)	operating	activities	 22(b)	 (259,830)	 (223,245)		

	 	 	 	

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities	 	 	 	

Payments	for	plant	and	equipment	 	 -	 (1,988)		

Payments	for	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 	 (1,193,597)	 (1,135,999)		

Net	cash	(used	in)	investing	activities	 	 (1,193,597)	 (1,137,987)		

	 	 	 	

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities	 	 	 	

Proceeds	from	issue	of	shares	 	 1,365,000	 2,455,000		

Payment	of	transaction	costs	associated	with	capital	raisings	 	 (61,669)	 (100,249)		

Net	cash	provided	by	financing	activities	 	 1,303,331	 	2,354,751		

	 	 	 	

Net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	held	 	 (150,094)	 993,519		

	 	 	 	

Cash	at	the	beginning	of	the	financial	year	 	 1,524,225	 	530,706		

	 	 	 	

Cash	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	 22(a)	 1,374,131	 	1,524,225		

	

	

	

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.	
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Marmota	Limited	and	Controlled	Entities	
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	
For	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	 	
 

 
 

1	 Statement	of	significant	accounting	policies	

The	financial	report	includes	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	notes	of	Marmota	Limited	and	

controlled	entities	(‘consolidated	group’	or	‘Group’).	

(a)	 Basis	of	preparation	
This	general	purpose	financial	report	has	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	Australian	Accounting	

Standards,	Australian	Accounting	Interpretations,	other	authoritative	pronouncements	of	the	Australian	

Accounting	Standards	Board	(AASB)	and	the	Corporation	Act	2001.	Compliance	with	Australian	Accounting	

Standards	results	in	full	compliance	with	the	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	as	issued	by	

the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(IASB).	The	Company	is	a	for-profit	entity	for	the	purposes	of	

preparing	financial	statements.	

The	following	report	covers	the	consolidated	entity,	Marmota	Limited,	a	listed	public	company,	

incorporated	and	domiciled	in	Australia.	

Australian	Accounting	Standards	set	out	accounting	policies	that	the	AASB	has	concluded	would	result	in	a	

financial	report	containing	relevant	and	reliable	information	about	transactions,	events	and	conditions.	

Compliance	with	Australian	Accounting	Standards	ensures	that	the	financial	statements	and	notes	also	

comply	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	Material	accounting	policies	adopted	in	the	

preparation	of	this	financial	report	are	presented	below	and	have	been	consistently	applied	unless	

otherwise	stated.	

The	financial	report	has	been	prepared	on	an	accruals	basis	and	is	based	on	historical	costs,	modified	where	

applicable,	by	the	measurement	at	fair	value	of	selected	non-current	assets,	financial	assets	and	financial	

liabilities.	

(b) Compliance	with	IFRS	
The	financial	report	complies	with	Australian	Accounting	Standards	as	issued	by	the	Australian	Accounting	

Standards	 Board	 and	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 (“IFRS”)	 as	 issued	 by	 the	 International	

Accounting	Standards	Board.	

There	is	no	impact	of	new	accounting	standards	and	interpretations	applied	during	the	year.	

(c) 	New	accounting	standards	and	interpretations	

AASB	9	Financial	Instruments		
AASB	9	Financial	Instruments	replaces	AASB	139	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement	for	

annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2018,	bringing	together	all	three	aspects	of	the	accounting	

for	financial	instruments:	classification	and	measurement;	impairment;	and	hedge	accounting.	

	

When	adopting	AASB	9,	the	Group	has	applied	transitional	relief	and	elected	not	to	restate	prior	periods.	

Rather,	differences	arising	from	the	adoption	of	AASB	9	in	relation	to	classification,	measurement,	and	

impairment	are	recognised	in	opening	retained	earnings	as	at	1	July	2018.	

The	reclassifications	and	adjustments	arising	from	the	introduction	of	AASB	9	have	not	been	reflected	in	the	

statement	of	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2018,	but	are	recognised	in	the	opening	balance	sheet	from	1	

July	2018.	The	following	table	shows	the	adjustments	recognised	for	each	individual	line	item.	Line	items	

that	were	not	affected	by	the	change	have	not	been	included.	
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Balance	Sheet	Extract	

30	June	2018	
as	originally	
presented	

AASB	9	 1	July	2018	

$	 $	 $	
Non-Current	Assets	
Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	
other	comprehensive	income	(OCI)	

-	 8,000	 (8,000)	

Available-for-sale	financial	assets	 8,000	 (8,000)	 -	

On	1	July	2018	(the	date	of	initial	application	of	AASB	9),	the	group’s	management	assessed	which	business	models	

apply	to	the	financial	assets	held	by	the	group	and	has	classified	its	financial	instruments	into	the	appropriate	

AASB	9	categories.	

The	impact	of	these	changes	on	the	Group’s	equity	is	as	follows:	

Effect	on	
AFS	reserve	

Effect	on	
FVOCI	reserve	

$	 $	
Closing	Balance	30	June	2018	-	AASB	139	 (7,500)	 -	
Reclassify	non	trading	equities	from	
available-for-sale	to	FVOCI	

7,500	 (7,500)	

Opening	Balance	1	July	2018	-	AASB	9	 -	 (7,500)	

Equity	investments	previously	classified	as	available-for-sale	
The	group	elected	to	present	in	OCI	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	all	its	equity	investments	previously	classified	as	

available-for-sale,	because	these	investments	are	held	as	long-term	strategic	investments	that	are	not	expected	to	

be	sold	in	the	short	to	medium	term.	As	a	result,	assets	with	a	fair	value	of	$8,000	were	reclassified	from	available-

for-sale	financial	assets	to	financial	assets	at	FVOCI	and	fair	value	losses	of	$7,500	were	reclassified	from	the	

available-for-sale	financial	assets	reserve	to	the	FVOCI	reserve	on	1	July	2018.	

AASB	9	Financial	Instruments	–	Accounting	Policies	applied	from	1	July	2018	

(a) Classification	and	Measurement
Except	for	certain	trade	receivables,	under	AASB	9,	the	Group	initially	measures	a	financial	asset	at	its	fair	value

plus,	in	the	case	of	a	financial	asset	not	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	transaction	costs.	Under	AASB	9,	debt

financial	instruments	are	subsequently	measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVPL),	amortised	cost,	or	fair

value	through	other	comprehensive	income	(FVOCI).

The	classification	is	based	on	two	criteria:	

• the	Group’s	business	model	for	managing	the	assets;	and

• whether	the	instruments’	contractual	cash	flows	represent	‘solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest’	on	the

principal	amount	outstanding	(the	‘SPPI	criterion’).

The	new	classification	and	measurement	of	the	Group’s	debt	financial	assets	are,	as	follows:	

Debt	instruments	at	amortised	cost	for	financial	assets	that	are	held	within	a	business	model	with	the	objective	to	

hold	the	financial	assets	in	order	to	collect	contractual	cash	flows	that	meet	the	SPPI	criterion.	This	category	

includes	the	Group’s	Trade	and	other	receivables.	
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Other	financial	assets	are	classified	and	subsequently	measured,	as	follows:	

Equity	instruments	at	FVOCI,	with	no	recycling	of	gains	or	losses	to	profit	or	loss	on	derecognition.	This	category	

only	includes	equity	instruments,	which	the	Group	intends	to	hold	for	the	foreseeable	future	and	which	the	Group	

has	irrevocably	elected	to	so	classify	upon	initial	recognition	or	transition.	

	

The	Group	classified	its	quoted	equity	instruments	as	equity	instruments	at	FVOCI.	Equity	instruments	at	FVOCI	are	

not	subject	to	an	impairment	assessment	under	AASB	9.	Under	AASB	139,	the	Group’s	quoted	equity	instruments	

were	classified	as	AFS	financial	assets.	

The	accounting	for	the	Group’s	financial	liabilities	remains	largely	the	same	as	it	was	under	AASB	139.	Similar	to	

the	requirements	of	AASB	139,	AASB	9	requires	contingent	consideration	liabilities	to	be	treated	as	financial	

instruments	measured	at	fair	value,	with	the	changes	in	fair	value	recognised	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.	

(b)	Impairment		
The	adoption	of	AASB	9	has	fundamentally	changed	the	Group’s	accounting	for	impairment	losses	for	financial	

assets	by	replacing	AASB	139’s	incurred	loss	approach	with	a	forward-looking	expected	credit	loss	(ECL)	approach.	

AASB	9	requires	the	Group	to	record	an	allowance	for	ECLs	for	all	loans	and	other	debt	financial	assets	not	held	at	

FVPL.	

ECLs	are	based	on	the	difference	between	the	contractual	cash	flows	due	in	accordance	with	the	contract	and	all	

the	cash	flows	that	the	Group	expects	to	receive.	The	shortfall	is	then	discounted	at	an	approximation	to	the	

asset’s	original	effective	interest	rate.	

	

For	Contract	assets	and	Trade	and	other	receivables,	the	Group	has	applied	the	standard’s	simplified	approach	and	

has	calculated	ECLs	based	on	lifetime	expected	credit	losses.	The	Group	has	established	a	provision	matrix	that	is	

based	on	the	Group’s	historical	credit	loss	experience,	adjusted	for	forward-looking	factors	specific	to	the	debtors	

and	the	economic	environment.	

For	other	debt	financial	assets	(i.e.	loans	and	debt	securities	at	FVOCI),	the	ECL	is	based	on	the	12-month	ECL.	The	

12-month	ECL	is	the	portion	of	lifetime	ECLs	that	results	from	default	events	on	a	financial	instrument	that	are	

possible	within	12	months	after	the	reporting	date.	However,	when	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	

risk	since	origination,	the	allowance	will	be	based	on	the	lifetime	ECL.	

The	Group	considers	a	financial	asset	in	default	when	its	contractual	payment	is	90	days	past	due.	However,	in	

certain	cases,	the	Group	may	also	consider	a	financial	asset	to	be	in	default	when	internal	or external	information	

indicates	that	the	Group	is	unlikely	to	receive	the	outstanding	contractual	amounts	in	full	before	taking	into	

account	any	credit	enhancements	held	by	the	Group.		

The	adoption	of	the	ECL	requirements	of	AASB	9	have	not	materially	impacted	the	expected	recoverability	of	

financial	assets	and	accordingly	no	adjustment	or	restatement	was	required	to	be	recognised	by	the	Group.	

 
AASB	15	Revenue	from	Contracts	with	Customers	
AASB	15	replaces	AASB	118	Revenue,	AASB	111	Construction	Contracts	and	several	revenue-related	

Interpretations.	The	new	Standard	has	been	applied	as	at	1	July	2018.	There	is	no	impact	to	the	Group’s	historical	

financial	results	given	the	company	is	not	currently	in	production.	
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Accounting	standards	issued	but	not	yet	effective	and	not	been	adopted	early	by	the	Company	

New	/	revised	
pronouncement	

Superseded	
pronouncement	

Nature	of	change	 Likely	 impact	 on	
initial	application	

AASB	16	Leases	 AASB	117	Leases	

Int.	4	Determining	

whether	an	

Arrangement	

contains	a	Lease	

Int.	115	Operating	

Leases—Lease	

Incentives	

Int.	127	

Evaluating	the	

Substance	of	

Transactions	

Involving	the	

Legal	Form	of	a	

Lease	

AASB	16:	

• replaces	 AASB	 117	 Leases	 and	 some	 lease-

related	Interpretations	

• requires	 all	 leases	 to	 be	 accounted	 for	 ‘on-

balance	 sheet’	 by	 lessees,	 other	 than	 short-

term	and	low	value	asset	leases	

• provides	 new	 guidance	 on	 the	 application	 of	

the	definition	of	 lease	 and	on	 sale	 and	 lease	

back	accounting	

• largely	 retains	 the	 existing	 lessor	 accounting	

requirements	in	AASB	117	

• requires	new	and	different	disclosures	 about	

leases	

The	 entity	 has	 yet	

to	 undertake	 a	

detailed	assessment	

of	 the	 impact	 of	

AASB	 9.	 	 However,	

based	 on	 the	

entity’s	 preliminary	

assessment,	 the	

Standard	 is	 not	

expected	 to	 have	 a	

material	 impact	 on	

the	 transactions	

and	 balances	

recognised	 in	 the	

financial	statements	

when	 it	 is	 first	

adopted	 for	 the	

year	ending	30	June	

2020.	

		

The	Group	has	not	elected	to	early	adopt	this	new	standard.	As	both	of	the	Group’s	operating	leases	are	

expiring	during	the	year	ending	30	June	2020,	the	right	of	use	assets	and	the	lease	liabilities	at	1	July	2019	

are	not	material.	

	

(d)	 Principles	of	consolidation	
The	Group	financial	statements	consolidate	those	of	the	Parent	and	all	of	its	subsidiaries	as	of	30	June	2019.	

The	Parent	controls	a	subsidiary	if	it	is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	

the	subsidiary	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	the	subsidiary.	All	

transactions	and	balances	between	Group	companies	are	eliminated	on	consolidation,	including	unrealised	

gains	and	losses	on	transactions	between	Group	companies.	Where	unrealised	losses	on	intra-group	asset	

sales	are	reversed	on	consolidation,	the	underlying	asset	is	also	tested	for	impairment	from	a	group	

perspective.	Amounts	reported	in	the	financial	statements	of	subsidiaries	have	been	adjusted	where	

necessary	to	ensure	consistency	with	the	accounting	policies	adopted	by	the	Group.		

Profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income	of	subsidiaries	acquired	or	disposed	of	during	the	year	are	

recognised	from	the	effective	date	of	acquisition,	or	up	to	the	effective	date	of	disposal,	as	applicable.		

(e)	 Income	tax	
The	income	tax	expense/(benefit)	for	the	year	comprises	current	income	tax	expense/(income)	and	

deferred	income	tax	expense/(income).	

Current	income	tax	expense	charged	to	the	profit	or	loss	is	the	tax	payable	on	taxable	income	calculated	

using	applicable	income	tax	rates	enacted	at	reporting	date.	

Deferred	income	tax	expense	reflects	movements	in	deferred	tax	asset	and	deferred	tax	liability	balances	

during	the	year	as	well	as	unused	tax	losses.	

Current	and	deferred	income	tax	(expense)/benefit	is	charged	or	credited	directly	to	equity	instead	of	the	

profit	or	loss	when	the	tax	relates	to	items	that	are	credited	or	charged	directly	to	equity.	

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	ascertained	based	on	temporary	differences	arising	between	the	tax	

bases	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	their	carrying	amounts	in	the	financial	statements.	Deferred	tax	assets	
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also	result	where	amounts	have	been	fully	expensed	but	future	tax	deductions	are	available.	No	deferred	

income	tax	will	be	recognised	from	the	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability,	excluding	a	business	

combination,	where	there	is	no	effect	on	accounting	or	taxable	profit	or	loss.	

Deferred	tax	is	calculated	at	the	tax	rates	that	are	expected	to	apply	to	the	period	when	the	asset	is	

realised	or	liability	is	settled.		Deferred	tax	is	credited	in	the	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	Other	

Comprehensive	Income	except	where	it	relates	to	items	that	may	be	credited	directly	to	equity,	in	which	

case	the	deferred	tax	is	adjusted	directly	against	equity.	

Deferred	income	tax	assets	are	recognised	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	tax	profits	will	be	

available	against	which	deductible	temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.	

The	amount	of	benefits	brought	to	account	or	which	may	be	realised	in	the	future	is	based	on	the	

assumption	that	no	adverse	change	will	occur	in	income	taxation	legislation	and	the	anticipation	that	

the	Company	will	derive	sufficient	future	assessable	income	to	enable	the	benefit	to	be	realised	and	

comply	with	the	conditions	of	deductibility	imposed	by	the	law.	

(f)	 Plant	and	equipment	
Each	class	of	plant	and	equipment	is	carried	at	cost	or	fair	value	less,	where	applicable,	any	accumulated	

depreciation	and	impairment	losses.	

	 Plant	and	equipment	

Plant	and	equipment	are	measured	on	the	cost	basis	less	depreciation	and	impairment	losses.	

The	carrying	amount	of	plant	and	equipment	is	reviewed	annually	by	Directors	to	ensure	it	is	not	in	

excess	of	the	recoverable	amount	from	these	assets.	The	recoverable	amount	is	assessed	on	the	basis	of	

the	expected	net	cash	flows	that	will	be	received	from	the	asset’s	employment	and	subsequent	disposal.	

The	expected	net	cash	flows	have	been	discounted	to	their	present	values	in	determining	recoverable	

amounts.	

	 Depreciation	

All	fixed	assets	are	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	their	useful	lives	to	the	Group	commencing	

from	the	time	the	asset	is	held	ready	for	use.	

The	depreciation	rates	used	for	each	class	of	depreciable	assets	are:	

	 	 	 	
	

Class	of	fixed	asset	

	 Depreciation	

rate	

	

	 	 	 	

Plant	and	equipment	 	 5%	–	33%	 	

	

The	asset’s	residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	reviewed,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	each	reporting	

date.	

An	asset’s	carrying	amount	is	written	down	immediately	to	its	recoverable	amount	if	the	asset’s	carrying	

amount	is	greater	than	its	estimated	recoverable	amount.	

Gains	and	losses	on	disposals	are	determined	by	comparing	proceeds	with	the	carrying	amount.	These	

gains	and	losses	are	included	in	the	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	Other	Comprehensive	Income.		

(g)	 Exploration	and	evaluation	expenditure	

Exploration	and	evaluation	expenditure	incurred	is	accumulated	in	respect	of	each	identifiable	area	of	

interest.	These	costs	are	only	carried	forward	to	the	extent	that	they	are	expected	to	be	recouped	

through	the	successful	development	of	the	area	or	where	activities	in	the	area	have	not	yet	reached	a	

stage	that	permits	reasonable	assessment	of	the	existence	of	economically	recoverable	reserves.	

Accumulated	costs	in	relation	to	an	abandoned	area	are	written	off	in	full	against	profit	in	the	year	in	

which	the	decision	to	abandon	the	area	is	made.	
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When	production	commences,	the	accumulated	costs	for	the	relevant	area	of	interest	are	amortised	

over	the	life	of	the	area	according	to	the	rate	of	depletion	of	the	economically	recoverable	reserves.	

A	regular	review	is	undertaken	of	each	area	of	interest	to	determine	the	appropriateness	of	continuing	

to	carry	forward	costs	in	relation	to	that	area	of	interest.	

Costs	of	site	restoration	are	provided	over	the	life	of	the	facility	from	when	exploration	commences	and	

are	included	in	the	costs	of	that	stage.	Site	restoration	costs	include	the	dismantling	and	removal	of	

mining	plant,	equipment	and	building	structures,	waste	removal	and	rehabilitation	of	the	site	in	

accordance	with	clauses	of	the	mining	permits.	Such	costs	are	determined	using	estimates	of	future	

costs,	current	legal	requirements	and	technology	on	an	undiscounted	basis.	

Any	changes	in	the	estimates	for	the	costs	are	accounted	on	a	prospective	basis.	In	determining	the	

costs	of	site	restoration,	there	is	uncertainty	regarding	the	nature	and	extent	of	the	restoration	due	to	

community	expectations	and	future	legislation.	Accordingly,	the	costs	are	determined	on	the	basis	that	

the	restoration	will	be	completed	within	one	year	of	abandoning	the	site.	

(h)	 Leases	
Lease	payments	for	operating	leases,	where	substantially	all	the	risks	and	benefits	remain	with	the	

lessor,	are	charged	as	expenses	in	the	periods	in	which	they	are	incurred.	

(i)	 Financial	instruments	
Initial	recognition	and	measurement	

Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	when	the	entity	becomes	a	party	to	the	provisions	

to	the	instrument.	For	financial	assets,	this	is	equivalent	to	the	date	that	the	Group	commits	itself	to	

either	the	purchase	or	sale	of	the	asset.	

Financial	instruments	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs,	except	where	the	

instrument	is	classified	‘at	fair	value	through	the	profit	or	loss’,	in	which	case	the	costs	are	expensed	to	

the	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	Other	Comprehensive	Income	immediately.	

Classification	and	subsequent	measurement	

Financial	instruments	are	subsequently	measured	at	either	of	fair	value,	amortised	cost	using	the	

interest	rate	method	or	cost.	Where	available,	quoted	prices	in	an	active	market	are	used	to	determine	

fair	value.	

The	Group	does	not	designate	any	interests	in	subsidiaries,	associates	or	joint	venture	entities	as	being	

subject	to	the	requirements	of	accounting	standards	specifically	applicable	to	financial	instruments:	

(i) Loans	and	receivables	

Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	

payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market	and	are	subsequently	measured	at	

amortised	cost.	Loans	and	receivables	are	included	in	current	assets	except	for	those	not	

expected	to	mature	within	12	months	after	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	

(ii) Financial	liabilities	

Non-derivative	financial	liabilities	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost.	

(iii) Available	for	sale	financial	assets	

Available	for	sale	financial	assets	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	that	are	either	not	

suitable	to	be	classified	into	other	categories	of	financial	assets	due	to	their	nature,	or	

they	are	designated	as	such	by	management.	They	compromise	the	investments	in	the	

equity	of	other	entities	where	there	is	neither	a	fixed	maturity	nor	determinable	

payments.	

Impairment	

At	each	reporting	date,	the	Group	assesses	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	

instrument	has	been	impaired.	
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(j)	 Impairment	of	non-	financial	assets	
At	each	reporting	date,	the	Group	reviews	the	carrying	values	of	its	tangible	and	intangible	assets	to	

determine	whether	there	is	any	indication	that	those	assets	have	been	impaired.	If	such	an	indication	

exists,	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	asset,	being	the	higher	of	the	asset’s	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	

and	value	in	use,	is	compared	to	the	asset’s	carrying	value.	Any	excess	of	the	asset’s	carrying	value	over	

its	recoverable	amount	is	expensed	to	the	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	Other	Comprehensive	

Income.	

(k)	 Employee	benefits	
Provision	is	made	for	the	Group’s	liability	for	employee	benefits	arising	from	services	rendered	by	

employees	to	reporting	date.	Employee	benefits	that	are	expected	to	be	wholly	settled	within	one	year	

are	measured	at	the	amounts	expected	to	be	paid	when	the	liability	is	settled,	plus	related	on-costs.	

Employee	benefits	payable	later	than	one	year	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	the	estimated	

future	cash	outflows	to	be	made	for	those	benefits.	

	

In	determining	the	liability,	consideration	is	given	to	employee	wage	increases	and	the	probability	that	

the	employee	may	satisfy	vesting	requirements.	Those	cash	flows	are	discounted	using	market	yields	on	

national	government	bonds	with	terms	to	maturity	that	match	the	expected	timing	of	cash	flows.	

	

Equity	settled	compensation	

The	Group	operates	equity	settled	share-based	payment	employee	share	option	schemes.	The	fair	value	

of	options	is	ascertained	using	the	Black-Scholes	pricing	model	which	incorporates	all	market	vesting	

conditions.	The	fair	value	of	retention	rights	is	ascertained	using	the	binomial	valuation	model.	

	(l)	 Provisions	
Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	Group	has	a	legal	or	constructive	obligation,	as	a	result	of	past	

events,	for	which	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	result	and	that	outflow	can	be	

reliably	measured.	

(m)	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	includes	cash	on	hand,	deposits	held	at	call	with	banks,	other	short-term	

highly	liquid	investments	with	original	maturities	of	three	months	or	less.	

(n)	 Interest	revenue	
Interest	revenue	is	recognised	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method,	which,	for	floating	rate	financial	

assets,	is	the	rate	inherent	in	the	instrument.	All	revenue	is	stated	net	of	goods	and	services	tax	(GST).		

	(o)	 Goods	and	services	tax	
Revenues,	expenses	and	assets	are	recognised	net	of	the	amount	of	goods	and	services	tax	(GST),	except	

where	the	amount	of	GST	incurred	is	not	recoverable	from	the	Australian	Tax	Office	(ATO).		In	these	

circumstances,	the	GST	is	recognised	as	part	of	the	cost	of	acquisition	of	the	asset	or	as	part	of	the	

expense.	

Receivables	and	payables	are	stated	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position	inclusive	of	GST.	

The	net	amount	of	GST	recoverable	from,	or	payable	to,	the	ATO	is	included	as	a	current	asset	or	liability	

in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	

Cash	flows	are	included	in	the	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	on	a	gross	basis.		The	GST	components	of	cash	

flows	arising	from	investing	and	financing	activities	which	are	recoverable	from,	or	payable	to,	the	ATO	

are	classified	as	operating	cash	flows.	
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(p)	 Interests	in	joint	operations	
A	joint	venture	is	an	arrangement	that	the	Group	controls	jointly	with	one	or	more	other	investors,	and	

over	which	the	Group	has	rights	to	a	share	of	the	arrangement’s	net	assets	rather	than	direct	rights	to	

underlying	assets	and	obligations	for	underlying	liabilities.	A	joint	arrangement	in	which	the	Group	has	

direct	rights	to	underlying	assets	and	obligations	for	underlying	liabilities	is	classified	as	a	joint	

operation.	Details	of	the	Group’s	interests	are	shown	at	Note	13.	

(q)	 Investments	in	associates	
Associate	companies	are	companies	in	which	the	group	has	significant	influence	through	holding,	

directly	or	indirectly,	20%	or	more	of	the	voting	power	of	the	company.	Investments	in	associate	

companies	are	recognised	in	the	financial	statements	by	applying	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	The	

equity	method	of	accounting	recognises	the	initial	investment	at	cost	and	adjusted	thereafter	for	the	

Group’s	share	of	post-acquisition	reserves	and	profits/	(losses)	of	its	associates.	Details	of	the	Group’s	

interests	in	associates	is	shown	at	Note	11.	

(r)	 Trade	and	other	payables	
Trade	and	other	payables	represent	the	liability	outstanding	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	for	

goods	and	services	received	by	the	group	during	the	period	which	remains	unpaid.	The	balance	is	

recognised	as	a	current	liability	with	the	amount	being	normally	paid	within	30	days	of	recognition	of	

the	liability.	

(s)	 Earnings	per	share	
(i)	 Basic	earnings	per	share	

Basic	earnings	per	share	is	calculated	by	dividing	the	profit/(loss)	attributable	to	equity	holders	of	the	

Group,	excluding	any	costs	of	servicing	equity	other	than	ordinary	shares,	by	the	weighted	average	

number	of	ordinary	shares	outstanding	during	the	financial	year,	adjusted	for	bonus	elements	in	

ordinary	shares	issued	during	the	year.	

	

(ii)	 Diluted	earnings	per	share	

Diluted	earnings	per	share	adjusts	the	figures	used	in	the	determination	of	basic	earnings	per	share	to	

take	into	account	the	after-income	tax	effect	and	other	financing	costs	associated	with	dilutive	potential	

ordinary	shares	and	the	weighted	average	number	of	additional	ordinary	shares	that	would	have	been	

outstanding	assuming	the	conversion	of	all	dilutive	potential	ordinary	shares.	

(t)	 Comparative	Figures	
When	required	by	Accounting	Standards,	comparative	figures	have	been	adjusted	to	conform	to	

changes	in	presentation	for	the	current	financial	year.	

(u)	 Critical	accounting	estimates	and	judgements	
The	Directors	evaluate	estimates	and	judgements	incorporated	into	the	financial	report	based	on	

historical	knowledge	and	best	available	current	information.	Estimates	assume	a	reasonable	

expectation	of	future	events	and	are	based	on	current	trends	of	economic	data,	obtained	both	

externally	and	within	the	Group.	

Key	estimates	–	impairment	

The	Group	assesses	impairment	at	each	reporting	date	by	evaluating	conditions	specific	to	the	Group	

that	may	lead	to	impairment	of	assets.	Where	an	impairment	trigger	exists,	the	recoverable	amount	of	

the	asset	is	determined.	

Key	judgements	-	exploration	and	evaluation	expenditure	
The	group	capitalises	expenditure	relating	to	exploration	and	evaluation	where	it	is	considered	likely	to	

be	recoverable	or	where	the	activities	have	not	reached	a	stage	which	permits	a	reasonable	assessment	

of	the	existence	of	reserves.	While	there	are	certain	areas	of	interest	from	which	no	reserves	have	been	

extracted,	the	directors	are	of	the	continued	belief	that	such	expenditure	should	not	be	written	off	

since	feasibility	studies	in	such	areas	have	not	yet	concluded.		
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(v)	 Parent	entity	financial	information	
The	financial	information	for	the	parent	entity,	Marmota	Limited,	disclosed	in	Note	27	has	been	

prepared	on	the	same	basis	as	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	

(w)	 Foreign	currency	translation	
	 Functional	and	presentational	currency	

Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	the	Group’s	entities	are	measured	using	the	

currency	of	the	primary	economic	environment	in	which	the	entity	operates	(functional	currency).	The	

consolidated	financial	statements	are	presented	in	Australian	dollars,	which	is	Marmota	Limited’s	

functional	and	presentational	currency.	

(x)	 Going	Concern	
The	financial	report	has	been	prepared	on	the	basis	of	going	concern.	

The	Consolidated	Entity	incurred	a	net	loss	of	$317,753	and	a	total	net	cash	outflow	of	$150,094,	which	

consists	of	a	cash	inflow	of	$1,365,000	from	capital	raising	(prior	to	costs),	and	an	outflow	of	$1,453,427	

from	operating	and	investing	activities	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019.	The	Consolidated	Entity	

continues	to	be	reliant	on	capital	raisings	for	continued	exploration	and	operations	and	for	the	provision	

of	working	capital.	If	the	additional	capital	is	not	obtained	or	expenditure	is	not	reduced,	then	the	going	

concern	basis	may	not	be	appropriate	with	the	result	that	the	consolidated	entity	may	have	to	realise	its	

assets	and	extinguish	its	liabilities,	other	than	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business	and	at	amounts	

different	from	those	stated	in	the	financial	report.		No	allowance	for	such	circumstances	has	been	made	

in	the	financial	report.	

(y)		 Authorisation	for	issue	of	financial	statements	
The	financial	statements	were	authorised	for	issue	by	the	Board	of	Directors	on	25	September	2019.	
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

2	 Revenue		

Other	revenues:	 	 	 	

From	operating	activities	 	 	 	

Interest	received	from	other	parties	 	 13,690	 12,686	

Government	grants	 	 -	 2,500	

Total	revenues	 	 13,690	 15,186	

3	 (Loss)/profit	before	income	tax	expense	has	been	determined	after	 	

Expenses	 	 	

Administration	expenses	 	 	

ASX	fees	 31,439	 24,484	

Share	registry	fees	 15,448	 14,254	

Insurance	 16,358	 16,093	

Audit	and	other	services	 30,750	 27,000	

Travel	 3,394	 1,849	

Marketing	 7,000	 19,945	

Software	licences	and	IT	services	 3,481	 4,924	

Other	 															21,591		 2,335	

	 129,461	 110,884	

Consulting	expenses	 	 	

Legal	fees	 20,920	 385	

Accounting	and	secretarial	services	 34,750	 45,600	

	 55,670	 45,985	

Depreciation	expense	 	 		

Plant	and	equipment	 18,925	 24,736	

Reallocation	to	exploration	costs	 (17,148)	 (20,595)	

Plant	and	equipment	 1,777	 4,141	

	 	 	

Employment	expenses	 	 	

Salaries	and	wages	 274,659	 220,356	

Directors	fees		 34,000	 18,417	

Superannuation	 20,782	 14,296	

Provisions	 2,504	 15,198	

Share-based	payments	-	directors	 -	 17,000	

Other	 4,698	 3,471	

Reallocation	to	exploration	costs	 (197,769)	 (165,028)	

	 138,874	 123,710	

	 	 		

Occupancy	expenses	 5,661	 6,119	

	

Impairment	expenses	 	 	

Impairment	of	exploration	assets	 -	 -	
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4	 Income	tax	(expense)	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

The	components	of	tax	expense	comprise:	 	 	

	 	 	

Current	income	tax		 	 -	

Deferred	tax		 	 -	

Tax	portion	of	capital	raising	costs		 -	 (31,095)	

	 	 	

Income	tax	(expense)	reported	in	the	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	

Other	Comprehensive	Income	 -	 (31,095)	

	 	 	

The	prima	facie	tax	on	profit	before	income	tax	is	reconciled	to	the	

income	tax	as	follows:		 	 	

	 	 	

Prima	facie	income	tax	(expense)	calculated	at	27.50%	on	loss	

(2018:	27.50%)	 (87,382)	 (75,804)	

	 	 	

Tax	effect	of:	 	 	

	 	 	

Deferred	tax	asset	in	respect	of	tax	losses	not	brought	to	

account	 465,249	 427,086	

Exploration	expenditure	s40-730	 (372,476)	 (319,724)	

Tax	effect	in	amounts	not	deductable	 (5,385)	 (31,558)	

Impairment	expense	previously	brought	to	account	 -	 -	

Tax	portion	of	capital	raising	costs		 -	 31,095	

Income	tax	(expense)	attributable	to	loss		 -	 (31,095)	

	 	 	

Income	tax	losses	 	 	

	 	 	

Deferred	tax	asset	arising	from	carried	forward	tax	losses	not	

recognised	at	reporting	date	as	the	asset	is	not	regarded	as	meeting	

the	probable	criteria	

				-	tax	losses	at	27.5%	 7,614,406	 8,116,374	

	 	 	

-	tax	losses	distributed	as	JMEI/EDI	credits	 (275,000)	 (457,841)	

Total	deferred	tax	asset	 7,339,406	 7,658,533	

	 	 	

Temporary	differences	 2,459	 1,436	
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

5	 Auditors’	remuneration	

Audit	services:	 	 	

Auditors	of	the	Group	–	Grant	Thornton	 	 	 	

Audit	and	review	of	the	financial	reports	 	 30,750	 27,000	

	 30,750	 27,000	

6	 Earnings	per	share	
	

	 (a)	Classification	of	securities	
All	ordinary	shares	have	been	included	in	basic	earnings	per	share.	

(b)	Classification	of	securities	as	potential	ordinary	shares	
• 550,000	unlisted	options		 exercisable	at	$0.018		 by	16/12/2019	 (2018:	550,000)	

• 500,000	unlisted	options		 exercisable	at	$0.03		 by	6/10/2021		 (2018:	500,000)	

• 5,000,000	unlisted	options		 exercisable	at	$0.03		 by	9/11/2021		 (2018:	5,000,000)	

• 0	unlisted	options		 exercisable	at	$0.03		 by	9/11/2021		 (2018:	25,000,000)	

	

Options	granted	to	employees	under	the	Marmota	Limited	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	are	

considered	to	be	potential	ordinary	shares	and	have	been	included	in	the	determination	of	diluted	earnings	

per	share	to	the	extent	to	which	they	are	dilutive.	

	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

(c)	Earnings	used	in	the	calculation	of	earnings	per	share	
	 	 	

(Loss)	after	income	tax	expense	 	 (317,753)	 (306,747)	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Weighted	average	number	of	shares	outstanding	during	the	year	in	calculating	earnings	per	share	
	 	 	

Number	for	basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	 	 	

Ordinary	shares	 	 664,408,781	 568,986,418	
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

7	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	

Cash	at	bank	 	 																		1,335,298		 1,485,967	

Deposits	at	call	 	 																								38,833		 38,258	

	 	 																			1,374,131		 1,524,225	

8	 Trade	and	other	receivables	

Current	 	 	 	

Other	receivables	 	 36,924	 84,958	

	 	 36,924	 84,958	

Non-Current	 	 	 	

Other	receivables	 	 30,000	 30,000	

	 	 30,000	 30,000	

	

	 Other	receivables	represent	accrued	interest	receivable	and	GST	refunds.	Receivables	are	not	considered	past	due	

and/or	impaired.	

9	 Other	current	assets	

Prepayments	 	 16,772	 24,593	

10	 Plant	and	equipment	

Plant	and	equipment	 	 	

At	cost	 734,386	 734,386	

Accumulated	depreciation	 (710,050)	 (691,125)	

	 	 	

Net	book	value	 24,336	 43,261	

	 	 	

Reconciliations	
Reconciliations	of	the	carrying	amounts	for	each	class	of	

plant	and	equipment	are	set	out	below:	

	

Plant	and	equipment	 	 	

Carrying	amount	at	beginning	of	year	 43,261	 66,008	

Additions	 -	 1,989	

Disposals	 -	 -	

Depreciation	 (18,925)	 (24,736)	

	 	 	

Carrying	amount	at	end	of	year	 24,336	 43,261	

	

55



Marmota	Limited	and	Controlled	Entities	
Notes	to	the	financial	statements	
For	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	 	
 

 
 

11	 Investments	in	associates	
	 Interests	are	held	in	the	following	associated	companies:	

	

Name	 Principal	activities	 Country	of	

incorporation	

Shares	 Ownership	

interest	

Carrying	amount	of	

investment	

Unlisted	 	 	 	 2019	 2018	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Groundhog	Services	Pty	Ltd	 Administration	services	 Australia	 Ord	 50%	 50%	 1	 1	

	

(a) Movements	during	the	year	in	equity	accounted	investments	in	associated	entities	
There	have	been	no	movements	of	equity	accounted	investments	in	associated	entities	during	the	year.	

	
(b) Equity	accounted	profits	of	associates	are	broken	down	as	follows:	
	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	 	 	

Share	of	associate’s	profit	before	income	tax	 -	 -	

Share	of	associate’s	income	tax	expense	 -	 -	

Share	of	associate’s	profit	after	income	tax	expense	 -	 -	

	

(c) Summarised	presentation	of	aggregate	assets,	liabilities	and	performance	associates	
The	Group’s	share	of	the	results	of	its	principle	associates	and	its	aggregated	assets	and	liabilities	are	as	

follows:	

	

	 	 	

Current	assets	 2	 2	

Non-current	assets	 -	 -	

Total	assets	 2	 2	

Current	liabilities	 -	 -	

Non-current	liabilities	 -	 -	

Total	liabilities	 -	 -	

	 	 	

Net	assets	 2	 2	

12	 	Financial	Assets	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

	

Equity	investments	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	

income	–	shares	in	listed	companies	

	 4,000	 8,000	
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13	 Interests	in	unincorporated	joint	operations	
	 Marmota	Limited	has	a	direct	interest	in	a	number	of	unincorporated	joint	operations	as	follows:		

	

No	 State	 Agreement	name	 Parties	 Summary	

	 	 	 	 	

1	 SA	 Junction	Dam	

Uranium	

Agreement	

Teck	Australia	Pty	Ltd,	

PlatSearch	NL	and	

Eaglehawk	Geological	

Consulting	Pty	Ltd	

(TPE)	and	Marmota	

Limited	(MEU)	

MEU	has	the	right	to	explore	for	uranium	

in	the	area	covered	by	Exploration	Licence	

EL	 5682	 (formerly	 EL	 4509).	 MEU	 has	

achieved	its	100%	earn-in	and	holds	100%	

of	 the	 uranium	 rights	 under	 the	 terms	 of	

the	Agreement.	TPE	retains	a	NSR	of	5%.	

	 	 	 	 	

2	 SA	 Melton	Joint	

Venture	

Monax	Mining	Limited	

(MOX)	and	Marmota	

Limited	(MEU)	

MEU	 has	 the	 right	 to	 explore	 for	 all	

minerals	 in	 the	 area	 covered	 by	

Exploration	 Licences	EL	5209	and	EL	6125	

(formerly	EL5122).	MEU	and	MOX	operate	

a	75:25	joint	venture.	

14	 Controlled	entities	

(a)	 Controlled	entities	consolidated	

The	consolidated	financial	statements	incorporate	the	assets,	liabilities	and	results	of	the	following	

controlled	entity	in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policy	described	in	Note	1(b):	

	 Country	of	

incorporation	

Percentage	owned	(%)	

	 	 2019	 2018	

Parent	entity:	 	 	 	

Marmota	Limited	 Australia	 	 	

Subsidiaries	of	Marmota	Limited:	 	 	 	

Marmosa	Pty	Ltd	 Australia	 100	 100	

15	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Movement:	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

Carrying	amount	at	beginning	of	year	 																			6,446,266		 5,289,305	

Additional	costs	capitalised	during	the	year	 																		1,354,457	 1,156,961	

Impairment
(1)	

	 																					-				 -	

Carrying	amount	at	end	of	year	 																	7,800,725	 6,446,266	

	 	 	 	

(1) The	ultimate	recoupment	of	costs	carried	forward	for	exploration	phase	is	dependent	on	the	

successful	development	and	commercial	exploitation	or	sale	of	the	respective	areas.	
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Consolidated	

2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Closing	balance	comprises:	
Exploration	and	evaluation	

- 100%	owned 5,567,907	 4,269,861	

Exploration	and	evaluation	

- Joint	Venture 																				2,232,816	 2,176,405	

7,800,725	 6,446,466	

16	 Trade	and	other	payables	

Trade	payables	 225,414	 60,437	

Other	payables	and	accruals	 137,007	 131,474	

Amounts	payable	to	Director	related	entities*	 28,749	 26,625	

391,170	 218,536	

* Details	of	amounts	payable	to	Director	related	entities	are	detailed	in	Note	23.

17	 Provisions	

Current	
Employee	benefits	 10,162	 12,908	

Non-current	
Employee	benefits	 11,375	 6,125	

Provision	for	long	service	leave	
A	provision	for	long	service	leave	has	been	recognised	for	employee	benefits.	In	calculating	the	present	

value	of	future	cash	flows	in	respect	of	long	service	leave,	the	probability	of	long	service	leave	being	

taken	is	based	on	historical	data.	The	measurement	and	recognition	criteria	relating	to	employee	

benefits	have	been	included	in	Note	1	to	this	report.	

Provisions	

Opening	balance	at	beginning	of	year	 19,033	 4,870	

(Payments	from)/additions	to	provisions	 2,504	 14,163	

Balance	at	end	of	year	 21,537	 19,033	
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Consolidated	

2019	

$	

2018	

$	

18	 Issued	capital	

	Issued	and	paid-up	share	capital	

735,696,452	(2018:	653,196,452)	ordinary	shares,	fully	paid	 38,616,749	 37,344,550	

(a) Ordinary	shares
Balance	at	the	beginning	of	year 37,344,550	 34,909,527	
Shares	issued	during	the	year:

62,500,000	shares:		 pursuant	to	a	placement	at	$0.016 1,000,000	 -	

20,000,000	shares:		 pursuant	to	a	placement	at	$0.016 320,000	 -	

Shares	issued	during	the	prior	year:	
29,411,765	shares:		 pursuant	to	a	placement	at	$0.017	 - 500,000

971,429	shares:		 in	lieu	of	Director’s	fees	at	$0.0175	 - 17,000

50,000,000	shares:		 pursuant	to	a	placement	at	$0.02	 - 1,000,000

55,555,555	shares:		 pursuant	to	a	placement	at	$0.018	 - 1,000,000

Less	transaction	costs	arising	from	issue	of	shares	net	of	tax	 (47,801)	 (81,977)

Balance	at	end	of	year	 38,616,749	 37,344,550	

Holders	of	ordinary	shares	are	entitled	to	receive	dividends	as	declared	from	time	to	time	and	are	

entitled	to	one	vote	per	share	at	shareholders’	meetings.	

Ordinary	shares	have	no	par	value	and	the	Group	does	not	have	a	limited	amount	of	authorised	capital.	

In	the	event	of	winding	up	of	the	Group	ordinary	shareholders	rank	after	all	creditors	and	are	fully	

entitled	to	any	proceeds	of	liquidation.	

(b) Options/rights
There	were	no	share	options/retention	rights	issued	to	Executive	Directors	during	the	financial	year.

For	information	relating	to	the	Marmota	Limited	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	including

details	of	any	options	issued,	exercised	and	lapsed	during	the	financial	year,	refer	to	Note	19.

At	30	June	2019,	there	were	6,050,000	unissued	shares	for	which	the	following	options	were	

outstanding.		

• 550,000	unlisted	options				exercisable	at	$0.018 by	16/12/2019	

• 500,000	unlisted	options				exercisable	at	$0.03 by	06/10/2021	

• 5,000,000	unlisted	options				exercisable	at	$0.03 by	09/11/2021	

At	30	June	2018,	there	were	31,050,000	unissued	shares	for	which	the	following	options	were	

outstanding.		

• 550,000		unlisted	options			exercisable	at	$0.018 by	16/12/2019	

• 500,000		unlisted	options			exercisable	at	$0.03 by	06/10/2021	

• 5,000,000		unlisted	options			exercisable	at	$0.03 by	09/11/2021	

• 25,000,000	unlisted	options			exercisable	at	$0.03 by	14/06/2019	
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(c) Capital	Management
Management	effectively	manages	the	Group’s	capital	by	assessing	the	Group’s	financial	risks	and

adjusting	its	capital	structure	accordingly.	These	responses	include	share	issues.	There	have	been	no

changes	in	the	strategy	adopted	by	management	to	control	the	capital	of	the	Group	since	the	prior

year.	The	Group’s	capital	is	shown	as	issued	capital	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position.

19	 Share-based	payments	

Share-based	payments	are	in	line	with	the	Marmota	Limited	Employee	Share	Option	Plan,	details	of	

which	are	outlined	in	the	Directors’	Report.	Listed	below	are	summaries	of	options	granted:	

(i) Options

2019	 2018	

Marmota	Limited	 Number	of	

options	

Weighted	

average	

exercise	

price	

Weighted	

average	

remaining	

contractual	

life	

Number	of	

options	

Weighted	

average	

exercise	

price		

Weighted	

average	

remaining	

contractual	

life	

Outstanding	at	the	

beginning	of	the	year	

6,050,000	 $0.029	 6,875,000	 $0.030	

Granted		 -	 -	

Forfeited		 -	 -	 (800,000)	 $0.036	

Exercised		 -	 -	 -	 -	

Expired		 -	 -	 (22,000)	 $0.001	

Outstanding	at	year-end	 6,050,000	 $0.029	 797	days	 6,053,000	 $0.029	 1,162	days	

Exercisable	at	year-end	 6,050,000	 6,053,000	

On	17	December	2014,	1,270,000	share	options	were	granted	to	employees	under	the	Marmota	Limited	

Employee	Share	Option	Plan	to	take	up	ordinary	shares	at	an	exercise	price	of	$0.018	each.	These	

options	are	exercisable	on	or	before	16	December	2019.	400,000	of	these	options	have	been	exercised	

and	320,000	have	lapsed	in	prior	years	leaving	550,000	at	30	June	2019.	

On	13	January	2016,	2,300,000	share	options	were	granted	to	employees	under	the	Marmota	Limited	

Employee	Share	Option	Plan	to	take	up	ordinary	shares	at	an	exercise	price	of	$0.05	each.	These	options	

were	exercisable	on	or	before	12	January	2021.	During	the	2017	year,	2	million	of	these	options	lapsed.	

During	the	2018	year,	the	remaining	300,000	options	were	forfeited.	All	of	these	options	have	now	lapsed.	

On	6	October	2016,	1,000,000	share	options	were	granted	to	employees	under	the	Marmota	Limited	

Employee	Share	Option	Plan	to	take	up	ordinary	shares	at	an	exercise	price	of	$0.03	each.	These	options	

are	exercisable	on	or	before	6	October	2021:	Black	Scholes	valuation	$2,624.		During	the	2018	year,	500,000	

options	were	forfeited,	leaving	500,000	at	30	June	2019.	

On	9	November	2016,	5,000,000	share	options	were	granted	to	directors	and	employees	under	the	

Marmota	Limited	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	to	take	up	ordinary	shares	at	an	exercise	price	of	

$0.03	each.	These	options	are	exercisable	on	or	before	9	November	2021:	Black	Scholes	valuation	$16,144.	

The	options	are	non-transferable	except	as	allowed	under	the	Director	&	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	

and	are	not	quoted	securities.		At	reporting	date,	other	than	as	disclosed	in	the	table	above,	no	share	

options	had	been	exercised.	All	options	granted	to	key	management	personnel	are	over	ordinary	shares	

in	Marmota	Limited,	which	confer	a	right	of	one	ordinary	share	for	every	option	held.	

The	fair	value	of	the	options	granted	was	calculated	by	using	the	Black-Scholes	option	pricing	model	

applying	the	following	inputs:	
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Nov	2016	
issue	

Oct	2016	
issue	

Jan	2016	
issue	

Dec	2014	
issue	

Jul	2012	
issue	

Weighted	average	fair	value	 $0.003	 $0.003	 $0.0187	 $0.008	 $0.035	

Weighted	average	exercise	price	 $0.03	 $0.03	 $0.05	 $0.018	 $0.036	

Weighted	average	life	of	the	option	 1,825	days	 1,825	days	 1,827	days	 1,825	days	 1,826	days	

Underlying	share	price	 $0.016	 $0.016	 $0.024	 $0.01	 $0.039	

Expected	share	price	volatility	 41.8%	 37.5%	 124%	 131%	 136%	

Risk	free	interest	rate	 1.8%	 1.8%	 2.18%	 2.50%	 2.31%	

The	life	of	the	option	is	based	on	the	days	remaining	until	expiry.	Volatility	is	based	on	historical	share	

prices.	

The	options	hold	no	voting	or	dividends	rights	and	are	unlisted.	The	options	lapse	6	months	subsequent	

to	the	cessation	of	employment	with	the	Group,	other	than	in	certain	situations.	There	are	no	vesting	

conditions	attached	to	the	options.	

Expense	arising	from	share-based	payment	transactions	
Total	expenses	arising	from	share-based	payment	transactions	recognised	during	the	period	as	part	of	

employee	benefits	expense	were	as	follows:	

Consolidated	

2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Shares	issued	to	Mr	P	Thompson	in	lieu	of	director’s	fees	 - 17,000

- 17,000

20	 Financial	risk	management	
The	Group’s	financial	instruments	consist	mainly	of	deposits	with	banks,	accounts	receivable	and	

payable	and	loans	to	and	from	subsidiaries	and	related	entities.	

The	totals	for	each	category	of	financial	instruments,	measured	in	accordance	with	AASB	139	as	

detailed	in	the	accounting	policies	to	these	financial	statements,	are	as	follows:	

Consolidated	

2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Financial	assets	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1,374,131	 1,524,225	

Loans	and	receivables	 66,924	 114,958	

Equity	investments	at	FVOCI	 4,000	 8,000	

1,445,055	 1,647,183	

Financial	liabilities	

Trade	and	other	payables	 371,170	 218,536	

371,170	 218,536	
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Financial	risk	management	policies	
The	Board	of	Directors	are	responsible	for	monitoring	and	managing	financial	risk	exposures	of	the	

group.		

	

	
Specific	financial	risk	exposures	and	management	
The	main	risks	the	group	is	exposed	to	include	liquidity	risk,	credit	risk	and	interest	rate	risk.	

	

(a) Liquidity	risk	
Liquidity	risk	arises	from	the	possibility	that	the	Group	might	encounter	difficulty	in	settling	its	debts	or	

otherwise	meeting	its	obligations	related	to	financial	liabilities.	

The	Group	manages	liquidity	risk	by	monitoring	forecast	cash	flows,	only	investing	surplus	cash	with	

major	financial	institutions;	and	comparing	the	maturity	profile	of	financial	liabilities	with	the	realisation	

profile	of	financial	assets.	

The	Board	meets	on	a	regular	basis	to	analyse	financial	risk	exposure	and	evaluate	treasury	

management	strategies	in	the	context	of	the	most	recent	economic	conditions	and	forecasts.	The	

Board’s	overall	risk	management	strategy	seeks	to	assist	the	consolidated	group	in	managing	its	cash	

flows.		

Financial	liabilities	are	expected	to	be	settled	within	12	months.	

(b) Credit	risk	exposures	
Credit	risk	represents	the	loss	that	would	be	recognised	if	counterparties	failed	to	perform	as	

contracted.	

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	on	financial	assets,	excluding	investments,	of	the	entity	which	

have	been	recognised	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position,	is	the	carrying	amount,	net	of	any	

provision	for	doubtful	debts.	

No	receivables	are	considered	past	due	or	impaired	at	reporting	date.	

	

(c) Interest	rate	risk	
Exposure	to	interest	rate	risk	arises	on	financial	assets	and	liabilities	recognised	at	reporting	date	

whereby	a	future	change	in	interest	rates	will	affect	future	cash	flows	or	the	fair	value	of	fixed	rate	

financial	instruments.	

The	Group	has	no	long	term	financial	liabilities	upon	which	it	pays	interest.	Cash	is	held	in	an	interest	

yielding	cheque	account	and	on	short	term	call	deposit	where	the	interest	rate	is	both	fixed	and	variable	

according	to	the	financial	asset.	Interest	rate	risk	is	managed	with	a	mixture	of	fixed	and	floating	rate	

cash	deposits.		

	

(d)	 Sensitivity	analysis	
Interest	rate		

The	Group	has	performed	a	sensitivity	analysis	relating	to	its	exposure	to	interest	rate	risk	at	reporting	

date.	This	sensitivity	analysis	demonstrates	the	effect	on	the	current	year	results	and	equity	which	could	

result	from	a	change	in	these	risks.	It	should	be	noted	that	the	Group	does	not	have	borrowings	and	any	

impacts	would	be	in	relation	to	deposit	yields	on	cash	investments.	
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Interest	rate	sensitivity	analysis	

At	reporting	date,	the	effect	on	profit/	(loss)	and	equity	as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	interest	rate,	with	

all	other	variables	remaining	constant	would	be	as	follows:	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Change	in	loss	 	 	 	

Increase	in	interest	rates	by	2%	 	 27,483	 30,485	

Decrease	in	interest	rates	by	2%	 	 (27,483)	 (30,485)	

Change	in	equity	 	 	 	

Increase	in	interest	rates	by	2%	 	 27,483	 30,485	

Decrease	in	interest	rates	by	2%	

	

	

	

	 (27,483)	 (30,485)	

21	 Commitments	&	contingent	liabilities	

(a)	 Exploration	expenditure	commitments	
In	order	to	maintain	current	rights	of	tenure	to	exploration	tenements,	the	Group	will	be	required	to	

outlay	in	the	year	ending	30	June	2019	amounts	of	approximately	$1,600,000	(2018:	$1,565,000)	to	

meet	minimum	expenditure	requirements	pursuant	to	various	joint	venture	requirements	and	those	

specified	by	the	State	Government	of	South	Australia.		These	obligations	are	subject	to	renegotiation	

when	application	for	a	mining	lease	is	made	and	at	other	times.		These	obligations	are	not	provided	for	

in	the	financial	report.		

	

	(b)	 Operating	leases	as	lessee	
The	Group	leases	as	lessee	an	office	and	warehouse	facility	under	an	operating	lease.	The	future	

minimum	lease	payments	are	as	follows:	

	 Minimum	lease	payments	due	

	 Within	1	year	 1	to	5	years	 After	5	years	 Total	

	 $	 $	 $	 $	

June	2019	 32,446	 -	 	 32,446	

June	2018	 38,225	 33,359	 -	 71,582	

	

(c) Guarantees	
The	Group	has	negotiated	a	number	of	bank	guarantees	in	favour	of	various	government	authorities	and	

service	providers.	The	total	nominal	amount	of	these	guarantees	at	the	reporting	date	is	$37,500	(2018:	

$37,500).	These	bank	guarantees	are	fully	secured	by	cash	on	term	deposit.	

	

(d) Contingent	liabilities	
As	at	30	June	2019,	there	was	a	contingent	liability	of	$66,434:	

• $47,915	for	the	Groundhog	Services	Partnership	(being	Marmota	50%	share)	assessment	received	

from	Revenue	SA	for	payroll	tax	relating	to	2010	–	2015	financial	years	in	respect	of	a	disputed	

change	in	grouping.		

• $18,519	for	Marmota	Ltd’s	assessment	from	Revenue	SA	for	payroll	tax	relating	to	2012-2015	

financial	years	in	respect	of	the	disputed	change	in	grouping.		

These	assessments	are	currently	being	disputed.	(2018:		$66,434).	
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	 	 Consolidated	

	 Note	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

22	 Notes	to	the	statements	of	cash	flows	

(a)	 Cash	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	consists	of	the	following:		
	

Cash	at	bank	and	at	call	 7	 1,374,131	 1,524,225	

	 	 1,374,131	 1,524,225	

(b) Reconciliation	of	(loss)	after	income	tax	to	net	cash	outflow	from	operating	
activities	

(Loss)	after	income	tax	 	 (317,753)	 (306,747)	

Add/(less)	non-cash	items	 	 	 	

Depreciation	 	 18,923	 22,747	

Share-based	payments	 	 -	 17,000	

Income	tax	expense	 	 -	 31,095	

Changes	in	operating	assets	and	liabilities	 	 	 	

(Increase)/decrease	in	other	assets	 	 (45,000)	 45,000	

(Increase)/decrease	in	trade	and	other	receivables	 	 55,855	 (31,946)	

(Decrease)/increase	in	trade	and	other	payables	 	 25,639	 (14,558)	

(Decrease)/increase	in	provisions	 	 2,506	 14,164	

Net	cash	(used	in)	operating	activities	 	 (259,830)	 (223,245)	

23	 Related	parties	

Directors’	transactions	with	the	Company	
A	number	of	Directors	of	the	Company,	or	their	Director	related	entities,	held	positions	in	other	entities	

during	the	financial	year	that	result	in	them	having	control	or	significant	influence	over	the	financial	or	

operating	policies	of	those	entities.	The	terms	and	conditions	of	the	transactions	with	Directors	and	

their	Director	related	entities	were	no	more	favourable	to	the	Directors	and	their	Director	related	

entities	than	those	available,	or	which	might	reasonably	be	expected	to	be	available,	on	similar	

transactions	to	Non-director	related	entities	on	an	arm’s	length	basis.	There	are	no	amounts	recognised	

during	the	year	or	the	prior	year	(excluding	remuneration	and	re-imbursement	of	expenses	incurred	on	

behalf	of	the	Company)	relating	to	Directors	and	their	Director	related	entities.		

Amounts	receivable	from	and	payable	to	Directors	and	their	Director	related	entities	at	reporting	date	

arising	from	these	transactions	were	as	follows:	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 	 2019	

	 $	

	 2018	

	 $	

Current	receivables	 	 	 	

Loan	to	director	related	entity	 	 -	 -	

Loan	to	associate	 	 -	 -	

	 	 -	 -	

Current	payables	 	 	 	

Amounts	payable	to	directors
(1)
	 	 28,749	 4,558	

Accrued	directors	fees
(1)
	 	 -	 22,067	

	 	 28,749	 26,625	

	

(1)	FY19	amount	is	amount	invoiced	for	Director’s	fees	by	a	related	entity	of:	

• Dr	C	Rose	$21,250	(FY18	$15,167);	and	

• Mr	P	Thompson	$3,117	(FY18	$4,391);	and	

• Dr	K	Wills	$4,382	(FY18	$7,067).	
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Refer	to	the	Remuneration	Report	contained	in	the	Directors’	Report	for	details	of	the	remuneration	

paid	or	payable	to	each	member	of	the	Company’s	key	management	personnel	for	the	year	ended	30	

June	2019.		

The	totals	of	remuneration	paid	to	directors	and	key	management	personnel	during	the	year	are	as	

follows:	

	 																	

	 Consolidated	

	 				 2019	

	 $	

	 2018	

	 $	

Short	term	employee	benefits	 232,183	 220,445	

Share-based	payments	 -	 17,000	

	 232,183	 237,445	

24	 Operating	segments		

The	Directors	have	considered	the	requirements	of	AASB8	–	Operating	Segments	and	the	internal	reports	

that	 are	 reviewed	 by	 the	 chief	 operating	 decision	 maker	 (the	 Board)	 in	 allocating	 resources	 and	 have	

concluded	that	at	this	time	there	are	no	separately	identifiable	segments.	

25	 Events	subsequent	to	reporting	date	
There	have	been	no	matters	or	circumstances	arising	since	the	end	of	the	financial	year	which	

significantly	affected	or	could	significantly	affect	the	operations	of	the	Group,	the	results	of	those	

operations,	or	the	state	of	the	Group	in	future	years.	

	
26	 Reserves	

Share	options	reserve	
The	share	options	reserve	records	items	recognised	as	expenses	on	valuation	of	employee	share	

options	and	retention	rights.	

Fair	Value	through	Other	Comprehensive	Income	(FVOCI)	reserve	(previously	available	for	sale	reserve)	
The	FVOCI	reserve	comprises	gains	and	losses	relating	to	these	types	of	financial	instruments.	

	

	 	 Consolidated	

	 	 2019	

$	

2018	

$	

Reserves	 	 	

Share	option	reserve	 	 	

Opening	balance	at	beginning	of	year	 21,856	 29,639	

Fair	value	of	options	issued	to	employees	 -	 -	

Options	exercised	or	expired	 -	 (7,783)	

Balance	at	end	of	year	 21,856	 21,856	

	 	 	

FVOCI	reserve	(previously	available	for	sale	reserve)	 	 	

Opening	balance	at	beginning	of	year	 	 (7,500)	

Reclassification	of	financial	instruments	under	AASB	9	

Fair	value	movement	

(7,500)	

(4,000)	

-	

-	

Balance	at	end	of	year	 (11,500)	 (7,500)	

	 	 	

Total	Reserves	 10,356	 14,356	
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27	 Fair	value	measurement	of	financial	instruments	

AASB	13	requires	disclosure	of	fair	value	measurements	by	level	of	the	fair	value	hierarchy,	as	follows:	

	

Level	1:	 Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;		

Level	2:	 Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	

liability,	either	directly	(i.e.	as	sales	prices)	or	indirectly	(i.e.	derived	from	prices);	

Level	3:	 Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(unobservable	

inputs).		

	

The	group’s	financial	asset	and	financial	liabilities	measured	and	recognised	at	fair	value	at		

31	December	2018	and	30	June	2018	on	a	recurring	basis	are	as	follows:	

Measurement	of	fair	value	of	financial	instruments  
The	methods	and	fair	valuation	techniques	used	for	the	purpose	of	measuring	fair	value	are	unchanged	

compared	to	the	previous	reporting	period.	

 
Listed	securities	

Fair	values	have	been	determined	by	reference	to	their	quoted	bid	prices	at	the	reporting	date.	

 
Fair	values	of	other	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	
The	carrying	amounts	of	other	 current	and	non-current	 receivables	and	payables	are	 considered	 to	be	a	

reasonable	approximation	of	their	fair	value.			

	

	

	

	

	

 
30	June	2019 

 
 

 

Level	1	

$	

Level	2	

$	

Level	3	

$	

Total	

$	

      
Financial	assets	at	fair	value  - - - - 
Equity	instruments	designated	at	FVOCI  - - - - 
Listed	securities  4,000 - - 4,000 
Net	fair	value  4,000 - - 4,000 
      
      
 
30 June 2018 

 
 

 

Level	1	

$	

Level	2		

$	

Level	3	

$	

Total	

$	

      
Financial	assets	at	fair	value  - - - - 
Equity	instruments	classified	as	available	for	sale   - - - - 
Listed	securities  8,000 - - 8,000 
Net	fair	value  8,000 - - 8,000 
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28	 Marmota	Limited	company	information	

	 	 2019	 2018	

	 	 $	 $	

Parent	entity	 	 	 	

Assets	 	 	 	

Current	assets	 	 1,554,604	 1,760,614	

Non-current	assets	 	 7,732,256	 								6,400,723		

Total	assets	 	 9,286,860	 8,161,337	

Liabilities	 	 	 	

Current	liabilities	 	 401,332	 231,445	

Non-current	liabilities	 	 11,375	 6,125	

Total	liabilities	 	 412,707	 237,570	

Equity	
	 	 	

Issued	capital	 	 38,616,749	 37,344,551	

Retained	losses	 	 (29,752,952)	 (29,435,139)	

Share	option	reserve	 	 21,856	 21,856	

				Available	for	sale	reserve	 	 (11,500)	 (7,500)	

Total	equity	 	 8,874,153	 7,923,768	

Financial	performance	
	 	 	

(Loss)	for	the	year	 	 (317,813)	 (305,950)	

Other	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -	

Total	comprehensive	income	 	 (317,813)	 (305,950)	

	 	 	 	

Guarantees	in	relation	to	the	debts	of	subsidiaries:	 	 	 -	

Contingent	liabilities	 	 66,434	 66,434	

Contractual	commitments	 	 32,446	 71,582	

	
	
29	 Fair	value	measurement	of	assets	and	liabilities	

Fair	value	hierarchy	
AASB	13	requires	disclosure	of	fair	value	measurements	by	level	of	the	following	fair	value	hierarchy:	

Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	(level	1)	

Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	

directly	or	indirectly	(level	2),	and	

Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(unobservable	inputs)	(level	3)	

All	financial	instruments	were	valued	using	level	1	valuation	techniques.	There	were	no	changes	in	valuation	

techniques	for	financial	instruments	in	the	period.	

Available	for	sale	financial	assets	are	measured	at	fair	value	using	the	closing	price	on	the	reporting	dates	as	

listed	on	the	Australian	Securities	Exchange	limited	(ASX).	The	carrying	value	of	trade	receivables	and	

payables	are	assumed	to	approximate	their	fair	values	due	to	their	short-term	nature.	

30	 Company	details	
	 The	registered	office	and	principal	place	of	business	of	the	Company	is:	

	 	 Marmota	Limited	

	 	 Unit	6,	79–81	Brighton	Road	

	 	 Glenelg			SA	5045	
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Directors’	declaration	
	

The	Directors	of	Marmota	Limited	declare	that	

(a)	 the	financial	statements	and	notes	are	in	accordance	with	the	Corporations	Act	2001,	and:	

(i)	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019	and	of	the	

performance	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date	of	the	consolidated	entity;	and	

(ii)	 comply	with	Accounting	Standards;	and	

(iii)	 Marmota	Limited	complies	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	

disclosed	in	Note	1.	

(b)	 The	person	holding	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	the	Chief	Financial	Officer	functions	has	

declared	that:	

(i) The	financial	records	of	the	Company	for	the	financial	year	have	been	properly	

maintained	in	accordance	with	s286	of	the	Corporations	Act	2001;	

(ii) The	financial	statements	and	notes	for	the	financial	year	comply	with	the	accounting	

standards;	and	

(iii) The	financial	statement	and	notes	for	the	financial	year	give	a	true	and	fair	view;	

(c) In	the	directors’	opinion,	there	are	reasonable	grounds	to	believe	that	the	Company	will	be	

able	to	pay	its	debts	as	and	when	they	become	due	and	payable.	

This	declaration	is	made	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	of	the	Board	of	Directors.	

	

Dated	at	Sydney	this	26
th
	day	of	September	2019	

	

	

	

	

Dr	Colin	Rose	

Chairman	
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Marmota Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Marmota Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the Directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1(x) in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of $317,753 
during the year ended 30 June 2019, and net cash outflows from operating and investing activities of $1,453,427. As stated in 
Note 1(x), these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1(x), indicate that a material uncertainty 
exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined the 
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Exploration and evaluation assets - Note 15 
At 30 June 2019 the carrying value of exploration and 
evaluation assets was $7,800,725.   

In accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources, the Group is required to assess at each 
reporting date if there are any triggers for impairment which 
may suggest the carrying value is in excess of the recoverable 
value. 

The process undertaken by management to assess whether 
there are any impairment triggers in each area of interest 
involves an element of management judgement.  

This area is a key audit matter due to the significant 
judgement involved in determining the existence of 
impairment triggers.   

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

x obtaining the management reconciliation of capitalised 
exploration and evaluation expenditure and agreeing to the 
general ledger; 

x reviewing management’s area of interest considerations 
against AASB 6; 

x conducting a detailed review of management’s 
assessment of trigger events prepared in accordance with 
AASB 6 including;  

� tracing projects to statutory registers, exploration 
licenses and third party confirmations to determine 
whether a right of tenure existed; 

� enquiry of management regarding their intentions to 
carry out exploration and evaluation activity in the 
relevant exploration area, including review of 
management’s budgeted expenditure; 

� understanding whether any data exists to suggest that 
the carrying value of these exploration and evaluation 
assets are unlikely to be recovered through 
development or sale; 

x evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 
management’s experts in the evaluation of potential 
impairment triggers; and 

x assessing the appropriateness of the related financial 
statement disclosures. 
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report  

The Directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2019.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Marmota Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2019 complies with section 
300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
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Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

B K Wundersitz 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Adelaide, 26 September 2019 
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SHAREHOLDER	

INFORMATION	
(AS	AT	27	SEPTEMBER	2019)	

Additional	information	required	by	the	Australian	Stock	Exchange	Limited	Listing	Rules	and	not	
disclosed	elsewhere	in	this	report	is	set	out	below.	

The	information	is	current	at	27	September	2019.	

Distribution	of	Equity	Securities	
Ordinary	Share	Capital	
Fully	paid	ordinary	shares	are	held	by	2,243	individual	shareholders.	

Options	
Unlisted	options	are	held	by	6	individual	option	holders.	

Substantial	shareholders	

The	number	of	shares	held	by	substantial	shareholders	and	their	associates	are	set	out	below:	

Substantial	shareholder	 Number	of	fully	paid	ordinary	shares	held	

Dr	Colin	Rose	 87,114,523	
Southern	Cross	Capital	Pty	Ltd	 56,555,555	

Voting	rights	

Fully	paid	ordinary	shares	
Subject	to	any	rights	or	restrictions	attached	to	any	class	of	shares,	at	a	meeting	of	members,	on	a	
show	of	hands,	each	member	present	(in	person,	by	proxy,	attorney	or	representative)	has	one	vote	
and	on	a	poll,	each	member	present	(in	person,	by	proxy,	attorney	or	representative)	has	one	vote	
for	each	fully	paid	share	they	hold.	

Distribution	of	equity	security	holders	

Category	 Holders	of	

Ordinary	shares	

Holders	of	

16/12/2019	

$0.018	Options	

Holders	of	

06/10/2021	

$0.03	Options	

Holders	of	

09/11/2021	

$0.03	Options	

1	–	1,000	 221	 -	 -	 -	
1,001	–	5,000	 135	 -	 -	 -	
5,001	–	10,000	 281	 -	 -	 -	
10,001	–	100,000	 1,015	 1	 -	 -	
100,001	and	over	 591	 2	 1	 2	
Total	Number	of	security	

holders	 2,243	 3	 1	 2	

The	number	of	shareholders	holding	less	than	a	marketable	parcel	of	ordinary	shares	is	792.	
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On	market	buy-back	

There	is	no	current	on-market	buy-back.	

Twenty	largest	shareholders	

The	names	of	the	20	largest	holders	of	fully	paid	ordinary	shares	constituting	a	class	of	quoted	
equity	securities	on	the	Australian	Stock	Exchange	Limited	including	the	number	and	percentage	
held	by	those	holders	at	27	September	2019	are	as	follows:	

Name	 Number	of	fully	paid	

ordinary	shares	held	

Percentage	

held	

Dr	Colin	Rose	 87,114,523	 11.84	
Southern	Cross	Capital	Pty	Ltd	 56,555,555	 7.69	
Ms	Jacqueline	Rose	 30,920,033	 4.20	
Mrs	Bete	Rose	 27,842,803	 3.78	
Gregory	Ross	Plummer	 20,000,000	 2.72	
Cosell	Pty	Limited	 20,000,000	 2.72	
Yandal	Investments	Pty	Ltd	 17,500,000	 2.38	
N	B	T	Pty	Ltd	 14,980,555	 2.04	
SEP	Investments	Pty	Limited	 12,500,000	 1.70	
Mr	Joseph	Richard	Mistarz			 12,000,000	 1.63	
Tattersfield	Securities	Limited	 11,719,314	 1.59	
HSBC	Custody	Nominees	(Australia)	Limited	 9,208,255	 1.25	
Pitt	Superannuation	Fund	Pty	Ltd	 7,000,000	 0.95	
Mr	Trevor	John	Hoare	&	Mrs	Robyn	Ann	Hoare	 6,000,000	 0.82	
N	B	T	Pty	Ltd	 5,000,000	 0.68	
Primdonn	Nominees	Pty	Ltd	 4,867,816	 0.66	
Sanperez	Pty	Ltd	 4,863,867	 0.66	
AJM	Super	Co	Pty	Ltd	 4,500,000	 0.61	
Emerald	Plumbing	Services	Investments	Pty	Ltd	 4,322,418	 0.59	
Jorac	Pty	Ltd	 4,038,205	 0.55	

360,933,344	 49.06	

Unquoted	equity	securities	

Options	
Details	of	options	on	issue	which	are	unquoted	are	as	follows.	

Expiry	date	 Exercise	

price	

Number	of	

Options	

Number	

Unquoted	

Number	of	

holders	

16/12/2019	 				$0.018	 550,000	 550,000	 3	
06/10/2021	 $0.03		 500,000	 500,000	 1	
09/11/2021	 $0.03		 5,000,000	 5,000,000	 2	
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CORPORATE	
DIRECTORY	

BUSINESS	&	REGISTERED	OFFICE	 STOCK	EXCHANGE	CODE	

Marmota	Ltd		
Unit	6	
79–81	Brighton	Road	
GLENELG	 				SA	5045	

Telephone:	 (08) 8294	0899
Facsimile:	 (08) 8376	8633
Email:	 info@marmota.com.au
Web:	 www.marmota.com.au

ASX:			MEU	

AUDITORS	
Grant	Thornton		
Grant	Thornton	House	
170	Frome	Street	
ADELAIDE			SA	5034	

SHARE	REGISTER		

Location	of	Share	Register	

Link	Market	Services	Ltd		
Locked	Bag	A14		
Sydney	South			NSW	1235	Australia	
Telephone:		1300	554	474		
Facsimile:					(02)	9287	0303		
Email:												registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au	
Web:							 						www.linkmarketservices.com.au	

POSTAL	ADDRESS	
Marmota	Ltd		
PO	Box	117	
GLENELG			SA	5045	

DIRECTORS	

Dr	COLIN	ROSE	
PhD	(Economics)	
Executive	Chairman	

Dr	KEVIN	WILLS	
BSc,	PhD,	ARSM,	FAusIMM	
Executive	Director	–	Exploration	

SHANE		BARKER	
BAppSc	(Metallurgy)	
Executive	Director	–	Production	

COMPANY	SECRETARY	

LISA	ASKHAM–LEVY	
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